
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 
  

  
please ask for Jonathon Partridge 

direct line 0300 300 4634 

date 26 September 2013 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

 

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
 

Date & Time 

Thursday, 10 October 2013 10.00 a.m. 
 

Venue at 

Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford 

 
 

 
Richard Carr 
Chief Executive 

 
To:     The Chairman and Members of the SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 

 
Cllrs D McVicar (Chairman), A R Bastable (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs R B Gammons, Ms A M W Graham, R W Johnstone, K C Matthews, 
T Nicols, B Saunders and P Williams 
 

 
[Named Substitutes: 
 
R D Berry, D Bowater, Mrs C F Chapman MBE, D Jones, A Shadbolt and 
M A Smith] 

 
All other Members of the Council - on request 

 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 

MEETING 
 



 

AGENDA 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
  

Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members. 
 

2. Members' Interests 
  

To receive from Members any declarations of interest and of any political whip 
in relation to any agenda item. 
 

3. Chairman's Announcements and Communications 
  

To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of 
communication. 
 

4. Minutes 
  

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Children’s 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 05 September 2013 and 
to note actions taken since that meeting.  
 

5. Petitions 
  

To receive petitions from members of the public in accordance with the Public 
Participation Procedure as set out in Annex 2 of Part A4 of the Constitution. 
 

6. Questions, Statements or Deputations 
  

To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the 
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in 
Annex 1 of part A4 of the Constitution. 
 

7. Call-In 
  

To consider any decision of the Executive referred to this Committee for 
review in accordance with Procedure Rule 10.10 of Part D2.   
 

8. Requested Items 
  

To consider any items referred to the Committee at the request of a Member 
under Procedure Rule 3.1 of Part D2 of the Constitution. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
REPORTS 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

9 Executive Member Update 
 
To receive for information a verbal update from the 
Executive Members for Sustainable Communities.  
 

*   

10 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
To consider whether to pass a resolution under section 
100A of the Local Government Act, 1972 to exclude the 
Press and Public from the meeting for item 11 on the 
grounds that the consideration of the item is likely to 
involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

*   

11 Leisure Facilities Strategy and the Flitwick Leisure 
Centre Feasibility Study 
 
To receive a report on the implementation of the Leisure 
Facilities Strategy, including the findings of the Flitwick 
Leisure Centre Feasibility Study.  
 

*  9 - 18 

12 Capital Budget Monitoring - Regeneration and 
Business Support 
 
To receive the quarter 1 capital budget monitoring report 
for Regeneration and Business Support Services.  
 

*  19 - 24 

13 Revenue Budget Monitoring - Regeneration and 
Business Support 
 
To receive the quarter 1 revenue budget monitoring report 
for Regeneration and Business Support Services.  
 

*  25 - 34 

14 Capital Budget Monitoring - Community Services 
 
To receive the quarter 1 capital budget monitoring report 
for Community Services.  
 

*  35 - 40 

15 Revenue Budget Monitoring - Community Services 
 
To receive the quarter 1 revenue budget monitoring report 
for Community Services.  
 

*  41 - 50 

16 Performance Monitoring 
 
To receive the quarter 1 performance monitoring report for 
the Community Services and Regeneration and Business 
Support Services Directorates.  
 

*  51 - 64 



17 Work Programme 2013/14 and Executive Forward Plan 
 
To consider the currently drafted Committee work 
programme for 2013/14 and the Executive Forward Plan.  
 

*  65 - 72 

 



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

At a meeting of the SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE held in Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford on 
Thursday, 5 September 2013. 

 
PRESENT 

 
Cllr D McVicar (Chairman) 

Cllr A R Bastable (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 
Cllrs Mrs R B Gammons 

Ms A M W Graham 
R W Johnstone 
 

Cllrs K C Matthews 
B Saunders 
 

 

Apologies for Absence: Cllrs T Nicols 
P Williams 
 

 

Substitutes: Cllrs R D Berry (In place of T Nicols) 
D Jones (In place of P Williams) 
 

 

Members in Attendance: Cllrs M C Blair Chairman of Audit 
  D Bowater Vice-Chairman of the 

Council 
  A D Brown Deputy Executive 

Member for Sustainable 
Communities - Strategic 
Planning and Economic 
Development 

  Mrs C F Chapman MBE  
  C C Gomm  
  B J Spurr Executive Member for 

Sustainable 
Communities - Services 

  R C Stay Executive Member for 
External Affairs and Lead 
Member for Troubled 
Families 

  B  Wells Deputy Executive 
Member for Sustainable 
Communities - Services 

  J N Young Executive Member for 
Sustainable 
Communities - Strategic 
Planning and Economic 
Development 

 

Officers in Attendance: Mrs S Cawthra – Enforcement & Appeals Team 
Leader 

 Mr M Coiffait – Community Services Director 
 Mr A Davie – Head of Development Management 

Agenda item 4
Page 5



SCOSC -  05.09.13 
Page 2  

 

 

 Mr J Partridge – Scrutiny Policy Adviser 
 Ms S Wileman – Service Development Manager 

 
SCOSC/13/38 

  
Members' Interests  

There were no interests or political whip declared in relation to any agenda 
item. 

 
SCOSC/13/39 

  
Chairman's Announcements and Communications  

There were no announcements or communications.  
 

SCOSC/13/40 
  

Minutes  

The Committee queried whether the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
had been invited to attend a future meeting as requested at the previous 
meeting (Minute SCOSC/13/36 refers).  The Policy and Scrutiny Manager 
advised that he would check whether the PCC could attend the meeting in 
October and inform Members by email.  
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the previous meeting of the Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 25 July 2013 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
SCOSC/13/41 

  
Petitions  

No petitions were received from members of the public in accordance with the 
Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part D2 of the Constitution. 

 
SCOSC/13/42 

  
Questions, Statements or Deputations  

No questions, statements or deputations were received from members of the 
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in 
Annex 1 of Part A4 of the Constitution. 

 
SCOSC/13/43 

  
Call-In  

The Panel was advised that no decisions of the Executive had been referred to 
the Panel under the Call-in Procedures set out in Appendix “A” to Rule No. S18 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 
SCOSC/13/44 

  
Requested Items  

The Corporate Policy and Scrutiny Manager advised the Committee that 
several items had been requested regards the following:-  

• Incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour, which would be considered in 
October 2013. 

• Parking Strategy, which would be considered in December 2013.  

• Street Maintenance, which would be considered in January 2014. 
 

Agenda item 4
Page 6



SCOSC -  05.09.13 
Page 3  

 

 

In addition Cllr Bowater informed the Committee that a previously requested 
item regards facilities in Leighton Buzzard had been dealt with appropriately 
outside of the meeting.  

 
SCOSC/13/45 

  
Executive Member Update  

The Executive Member for Sustainable Communities (Strategic Planning and 
Economic Development) advised the Committee that a Development 
Management meeting had recently approved an application for up to 5,150 
homes North of Houghton Regis.  This development would provide significant 
economic benefits in the local area.  Although there was potential for a judicial 
review of the Council’s decision the Executive Member was confident that a 
challenge would be unsuccessful.  
 
In response to questions it was suggested that the Secretary of State (SoS) 
could take up to three months to make a decision on any judicial review that 
may be received in relation to the application North of Houghton Regis.  
Although there was further work required on the viability of an application for 
Land East of Leighton Buzzard it was envisaged that an application would 
come forward as soon as possible and that it would be considered at a Special 
Development Management meeting.  

 
SCOSC/13/46 

  
Planning Enforcement Plan  

The Enforcement & Appeals Team Leader introduced a report that set out the 
draft Planning Enforcement Plan for Central Bedfordshire.  Further information 
in relation to changes to the document was also circulated to the Committee at 
the meeting.  The document was a revision of the Central Bedfordshire 
Planning Enforcement Policy that was adopted by the Council in 2009 and had 
been updated in line with Government guidance and changes in legislation.  In 
addition the Executive Member Sustainable Communities (Strategic Planning 
and Economic Development) drew attention to the timescales for high priority 
cases; guidance relating to unauthorised gypsy and traveller encampments; 
and whether additional staffing was required at weekends to deliver the plan.  
 
In response to the report and the further clarification provided the Committee 
discussed several issues in detail as follows:-  

• The percentage of enforcement cases that were considered to be ‘high 
priority’.  It was clarified that most cases were ‘medium’ priority, only a 
few cases were ‘high’ priority relating to tree preservation orders, listed 
buildings or gypsy and traveller encampments.  In these cases 
‘immediate’ action was necessary.  It was noted that the Council’s 
opinion of a ‘high’ priority was not always the same as the publics.  

• Whether existing staff in other departments would be able to provide 
additional capacity to deliver a service over the weekend.  It was 
commented that a temporary member of staff in the Planning 
Enforcement Team had been appointed for 6-months but the capacity of 
staff to fulfil this additional work would need to be considered.  

• Specific cases of enforcement in which ward Councillors and Town and 
Parish Councillors had not been given equal priority when raising an 
incident.  It was commented that more work was necessary to ensure 

Agenda item 4
Page 7



SCOSC -  05.09.13 
Page 4  

 

 

that the Council took appropriate action when a matter was referred by a 
Town and Parish Councillor.  

• The importance of being able to check that work had been undertaken 
within the proposed timescales.  

• Whether the references to timescales for low priority cases within the 
current draft plan were appropriate.  The Committee agreed that 
references should be amended to read “a site visit will be made as soon 
as practicable but at most within 10 days”. 

• The lack of clarity relating to reporting alleged breaches of planning 
control at paragraph 3.2.  It was agreed that references to equal priority 
in this paragraph would be amended.  

• The timescales within which the Council may serve an Enforcement 
Order for concealed development.  It was clarified that if a development 
was deliberately concealed for a period of longer than four years the 
Council could apply for a one year extension at the point at which the 
development was identified on which action could be taken.  

• The extent to which the Council enforced planning conditions in some 
cases.  It was commented that enforcement action had to be 
proportionate to the size and nature of the development and each case 
was considered on its own merit.  

• The flow charts in the draft plan could be improved with several 
amendments.  Officers agreed to pursue these comments with a 
Councillor outside the meeting.  

• Whether cases in the green belt should be considered a priority for 
enforcement action.  It was clarified that this was addressed in the draft 
plan.  

 
RECOMMENDED that the Executive Member be requested to consider the 
comments of the Committee prior to presenting the draft Enforcement 
Plan to the Executive and in particular consider the feasibility of existing 
staff providing an enforcement service over the weekends so that 
immediate action can be taken in relation to high priority cases.  

 
SCOSC/13/47 

  
Work Programme 2013/14 and Executive Forward Plan  

The Corporate Policy and Scrutiny Manager informed the Committee that 
several requested items had been added to the work programme as discussed 
earlier in the meeting.  In addition the Chairman stated that pre-submission 
consultation on the draft Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan had concluded  
 
The Council had taken on board the comments that had been received, which 
suggested that one or more changes should be made to the plan and list of 
sites before they were submitted to the Secretary of State.   
 
The Committee would consider the recommendations to make changes to the 
plan before a decision was made by the Executive and Full Council at their 
meeting on 10 October. 

 
(Note: The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 11.28 

a.m.) 
 

Agenda item 4
Page 8



Agenda item 11
Page 9 NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda item 11
Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Capital Programme Report for the Quarter ended 30th June,  2013 

Report of: Cllr Nigel Young– Executive Member for Regeneration and 
Business Support 

Summary: Forecast capital expenditure and external funding for 2013/14 as at the 
end of June, 2013. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Sue Templeman, Senior Finance Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

The capital programme provides the necessary infrastructure to support the Council. 
In particular the  Regeneration and Business Support  Directorate has direct impact on 
the stated Council priorities of: 

• Enhancing your local community, and 

• Better infrastructure. 

Financial: 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 

Legal: 

All expenditure is in accordance with the Constitution of the Council and Public 
Procurement Regulations. 

Risk Management: 

Outline and detailed business cases ensure that risks are addressed before schemes 
are accepted into the programme. Project Managers oversee delivery risks. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

Community Safety: 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

 

Sustainability: 

Agenda item 12
Page 19



Resource usage and project outcomes are assessed at business case stage.  

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. That the Overview & Scrutiny Committee note: 

 (a) Forecast capital expenditure of £8,246k and external funding of 
£5,480k; 

 (b) A full year variance of £890k on expenditure and of £124k on external 
income resulting in a net spend below budget of £766k . 

 

2.0 Introduction  

2.1 

 

The Regeneration and Business support capital programme in 2013/14 is made 
up of 22 schemes which include large groupings of projects that were the result 
of developer funds to deliver planning requirements, associated with new 
developments. 

3.0 Overall position 

The directorate expects to spend £8,246k and receive external income of £5,480k, 
leaving net spend below budget in 2013/14 of £766k.  The majority of this slippage 
is due to delays because of external factors beyond the control of the Council.   

3.1 Summary Table A 

Table A shows the Directorate’s net budget and forecast for 2013/14.  The forecast 
variance is due to the acquisition of the final property of the Dunstable 
regeneration scheme. There is also the potential rule 6 compensation claims in 
respect of all the acquired properties which may take up to six years to finalise.  

 Table A – Capital budget by Category (£’000) 

 

Scheme Categories

Net 

Expenditure 

Budget

Net 

Expenditure 

Forecast

Net 

Expenditure 

Forecast 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration 3,532 2,766 -766

Total 3,532 2,766 -766

Percentage of budget 78.3% 21.7%
 

Agenda item 12
Page 20



4.0 Major schemes  

The Capital Programme is key to delivering the priorities set out in the Medium 
Term Plan, the majority of which were led by the former Sustainable Communities 
directorate. These supported the aim of keeping Central Bedfordshire as a great 
place to live and work. The position with major schemes are as follows: 

 • Dunstable Town Centre regeneration –purchase of five of the eight properties 
in Dorchester Close has been completed with two planned to be completed by 
September 2013. 

5.0 S106 Schemes 

5.1 In granting planning permission for new development, legally binding Section 106 
agreements are often made between the Council and the applicant. These 
agreements require the applicant to provide for or contribute to the costs of 
infrastructure, community facilities and other planning requirements which ensures 
that development which would otherwise be unacceptable due to its local impact is 
made acceptable. S106 agreements are legally tied to the delivery of specific 
planning obligations associated with the development permitted and cannot 
lawfully be used to deliver infrastructure requirements not listed in the legal 
agreement. 

5.2 The Regeneration and Business Support directorate coordinates S106 
requirements and spend for the Council. The S106 information in this report 
indicates the total value of contributions comprising a substantial number of 
schemes. For ease of reading the contributions are presented as running totals. 
The balances are made up of schemes that have different delivery schedules and 
the amounts do not all have to be spent in the current financial year. 

 Table B – S106 schemes by status (£’000) 

Purpose / Responsibility FUNDING STATUS

Opening Balance

Contributions 

received up to 

June 2013

Expenditure up 

to June 2013

Closing 

Balance

Childrens Families & Learning 6,383 62 -1235 5,210

Regeneration 11,158 402 -777 10,783

Pratts Quarry 2,910 0 0 2,910

Sub-total 20,451 464 -2,012 18,903

Revenue 64 64

Total 20,515 464 -2,012 18,967  

 

  

  

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Corporate Capital Summary 2013/14 

Appendix 2 – Regeneration Actual as at June, 2013 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

Location of papers: Technology House, Bedford 

Agenda item 12
Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 – CORPORATE CAPITAL SUMMARY 2013/14 

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding
Net Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure
External Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding
Net Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditur

e

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditur

e

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Children's Services 27,395 -26,691 704 27,395 -26,691 704 0 0 0 2,626 -2,608 18 2,627 -2,610 17 1 -2 -1 

         Environmental Services 5,367 -417 4,950 806 -369 437 -4,561 48 -4,513 200 -162 38 199 0 199 -1 162 161

         Libraries 202 0 202 245 0 245 43 0 43 0 0 0 5 0 5 5 0 5

         Leisure 6,287 -1,908 4,379 5,041 0 5,041 -1,246 1,908 662 598 -950 -352 239 0 239 -359 950 591

         Transport 17,639 -5,985 11,654 18,931 -6,066 12,865 1,292 -81 1,211 4,288 -1,517 2,772 3,033 -2,060 973 -1,255 -544 -1,799 

Community Services 29,495 -8,310 21,185 25,023 -6,435 18,588 -4,472 1,875 -2,597 5,086 -2,629 2,458 3,476 -2,060 1,416 -1,610 569 -1,042 

Corporate Resources 13,901 -1,500 12,401 13,124 -1,500 11,624 -777 0 -777 961 0 961 1,057 0 1,057 96 0 96

Improvement & Corporate 

Services
4,202 0 4,202 3,881 0 3,881 -321 0 -321 410 0 410 814 0 814 404 0 404

Regeneration 9,136 -5,604 3,532 8,246 -5,480 2,766 -890 124 -766 733 -512 221 2,036 -194 1,842 1,303 318 1,621

Social Care, Health & 

Housing
10,278 -7,269 3,009 9,865 -7,390 2,475 -413 -121 -534 833 -1,179 -346 787 -707 80 -46 472 426

Total Exluding HRA 94,407 -49,374 45,033 87,534 -47,496 40,038 -6,873 1,878 -4,995 10,649 -6,928 3,721 10,797 -5,571 5,226 148 1,357 1,505

HRA 10,895 0 10,895 9,604 0 9,604 -1,291 0 -1,291 996 0 996 870 -10 860 -126 -10 -136 

Total Including HRA 105,302 -49,374 55,928 97,138 -47,496 49,642 -8,164 1,878 -6,286 11,645 -6,928 4,717 11,667 -5,581 6,086 22 1,347 1,369

Directorate

2012/ 13 Capital Programme Budget Full year forecast as at month 3 Full Year Variance

Jun-13

 PROFILED  BUDGET TO DATE  ACTUAL TO DATE VARIANCE TO DATE

 

 

 

A
genda item

 12
P

age 23



 

APPENDIX 2 – REGENERATION ACTUAL AS AT JUNE, 2013 

 

 

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Regeneration
733 -512 221 2,036 -194 1,842 1,303 318 1,621

Directorate

Jun-13

 PROFILED  BUDGET TO DATE  ACTUAL TO DATE VARIANCE TO DATE

 

 

A
genda item

 12
P

age 24



Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Revenue Report for Regeneration and Business Support for the 
quarter ended 30th June, 2013 

Report of: Cllr Nigel Young– Executive Member for Regeneration and 
Business Support  

Summary: Forecast outturn of £10,096k resulting in over spend of £182k after the 
use of reserves. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Sue Templeman, Senior Finance Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

Sound financial management contributes to the delivery of the Council’s value for 
money, enabling the Council to successfully deliver its priorities. In particular the  
Regeneration and Business Support budget had direct impact on the stated Council 
priorities of: 

• Creating Safer Communities, and 

• Managing Growth effectively. 

Financial: 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 

Legal: 

All expenditure is in accordance with the Constitution of the Council and Public 
Procurement Regulations 

Risk Management: 

All of services have been risk rated and actions agreed with managers to work within 
budget tolerances. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

A number of minor staffing changes are being implemented in line with resourcing 
proposals approved in the 2013/14 budgets. 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

None 

Community Safety: 

None 

Agenda item 13
Page 25



Sustainability: 

Regeneration and Business Support is one of  the lead Directorates with regards to 
making Central Bedfordshire a more sustainable place to live and work.   

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. that the Overview & Scrutiny Committee note: 

 (a) The projected net expenditure outturn of £10,096k, 

 (b) The proposed use of specific reserves of £578k, and 

 (c) The projected over spend of £182k after the use of specific reserves. 

 

Introduction 

1 

 

Regeneration and Business Support directorate manages a gross expenditure 
budget of £15.75 million  with an income budget of £6.41 million, leaving a net 
expenditure budget of £9.34 million.  

Executive Summary Revenue 

2 Regeneration and Business Support’s overall financial position as at the end of 
quarter one was a projected overspend of £182k. This represents a forecasted 
overspend of 1% of gross budget or 2% of the net budget, after the use of 
earmarked reserves of £578k for one-off specific projects.  

3 Table A shows the full year variance by budget group. The main financial 
performance changes of each group are described in the following paragraphs.    

Appendices A1 to A3 provide further tables showing estimates and movements by 
services. 

4 Table A – Directorate Overall Position 

 

Division
Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

outturn for 

year

Forecast 

variance for 

year (-under) / 

over spend

Forecast 

variance after 

use of 

earmarked 

reserves (-

under) / over 

spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Service Development 536 523 -13 -13

Economic Growth and Skills 2,355 2,668 313 138

Planning 6,445 6,905 460 57

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 9,336 10,096 760 182
 

Agenda item 13
Page 26



5 Service Development 

Service Development is forecasting an under spend of £13k  due to some in year  
salary savings  

6 Economic Growth Skills & Regeneration 

The Economic Growth Skills & Regeneration Service has projected an outturn of 
£138k overspend.  

 The ASCL service is currently showing a full year overspend of £40k. This service 
is under going major changes which includes a significant reduction in the 
operating costs and overall number of posts by moving to a commissioning based 
model. These changes will over the course of the financial year reduce the over 
spend and reposition the whole service to operate entirely within the external 
funding available to the Council. 

 The overall budget position is partly off set from forecast underspend (£12k) in the 
salaries budget, due to staff vacancies. 

7 Planning 

 The Planning Division is forecasting an overspend of £57k.  

 This is due to flood defence grant income being distributed differently by the 
Government and also Customer First.  These are partially offset by the forecast 
of additional income in Development Management and a forecast underspend 
on professional fees for project work in Development Planning. 

Revenue Virements 

8 Regeneration and Business Support Directorate’s budget has not changed. 

Achieving Efficiencies 

9 Regeneration and Business Support was set an efficiency target of £453k. There 
were savings initiatives being implemented across the Directorate.  

 At the end of June, the Directorate had achieved efficiency savings of £88k in 
accordance with budget to date. The forecast for the year is £367k which is £86k 
below the target. Compensatory savings are being investigated. 

Reserves 

10 The budget for 2013/14 assumes the application of  £578k of earmarked reserves 
to fund specific one-off projects.  A breakdown is provided in Appendix C. 

Debt management 

11 The total debt at the end of June was £1,806k.  Invoices relating to developers’ 
legal contributions to deliver planning requirements associated with new 
developments account for 79% of debt.  About 38% of debt is less than three 
months old. All debt recovery is in accordance with Council policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda item 13
Page 27



Table B – Debt Outstanding 

 

Debt profile >£100K >=£50K >=£10K >=£1K <£1K Total

Age 

Ratio

No of debtors 5 5 23 19 3 55

Current £45 £35 £0 £13 £0 £93 5.1%

1 month £41 £84 £46 £16 £0 £187 10.3%

2 months £62 £68 £56 £12 -£28 £171 9.5%

3 months £14 £0 £183 £9 £28 £235 13.0%

3-12 months £237 £103 £88 £18 £0 £446 24.7%

> 12 months £424 £106 £130 £15 £0 £675 37.4%

Total Debt £823 £396 £504 £83 £0 £1806 100.0%  

 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix A1 – Revenue Summary Position by Division 

Appendix A2 – Revenue Summary Position by Service    

Appendix A3 – Movement in variance    

Appendix B – Efficiencies 

Appendix C – Earmarked Reserves 

Appendix D – Debt Analysis 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

Location of papers: Technology House, Bedford 

 

 

 

 

Agenda item 13
Page 28



APPENDIX A1 – NET REVENUE POSITION BY DIVISION JUNE, 2013 

 

Division  Budget Actual 
Use of 

reserves
Variance 

Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Variance

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves

Proposed 

use of 

reserves

Total

Forecast  

Variance after 

use of reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Service Development 134 102 0 -32 536 523 -13 0 0 0 -13

Economic Growth and Skills 542 546 -29 -25 2,355 2,668 313 0 -175 -175 138

Planning 1,262 1,313 -16 35 6,445 6,905 460 0 -403 -403 57

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 1,938 1,961 -45 -22 9,336 10,096 760 0 -578 -578 182

Year to date Full Year

A
genda item

 13
P

age 29



APPENDIX A2 – NET REVENUE POSITION BY SERVICE JUNE, 2013 

Service  Budget Actual 
Use of 

reserves
Variance 

Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Variance

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves (+ve)

Proposed 

use of 

reserves (-

ve)

Total

Forecast  

Variance after 

use of reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Service Development

Service Development 134 102 -32 536 523 -13 0 -13

Sub Total 134 102 0 -32 536 523 -13 0 0 0 -13

Economic Growth and Skills

AD Econ Growth,Skills & Regen 206 214 8 823 811 -12 0 -12

Business Investment & Marketing 10 18 -8 0 39 135 96 -96 -96 0

Economic Dev & Physical Regen 16 24 -10 -2 240 259 19 -19 -19 0

Community Regeneration 33 23 -11 -21 146 205 59 -60 -60 -1

Adult Skills 305 267 -38 1,218 1,258 40 0 40

Customer First -28 0 28 -111 0 111 0 111

Sub Total 542 546 -29 -25 2,355 2,668 313 0 -175 -175 138

Planning

AD Planning 12 47 35 49 99 50 0 50

Dev Plan & Strategic Housing 346 355 9 2,093 1,983 -110 0 -110

Development Management 295 72 -16 -239 1,178 1,200 22 -139 -139 -117

Transport Strategy & Countryside 484 689 205 2,301 2,301 0 0 0

Building Control 216 211 -5 931 1,340 409 -264 -264 145

Archaeology -69 -61 8 -21 -18 3 0 3

Customer First -22 0 22 -86 0 86 0 86

Sub Total 1,262 1,313 -16 35 6,445 6,905 460 0 -403 -403 57

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 1,938 1,961 -45 -22 9,336 10,096 760 0 -578 -578 182

Cummulative to Date Year 

 

A
genda item

 13
P

age 30



 

 

Appendix A3 – Movement in variance 

 

Division

Full Year 

Forecast 

Variance 

June

Full Year 

Forecast 

Variance 

April

Change in 

Variance 

£000 £000 £000

Service Development 523 0 523

Economic Growth and Skills 2,668 0 2,668

Planning 6,905 0 6,905

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 10,096 0 10,096  

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 13
P

age 31



APPENDIX B – EFFICIENCIES JUNE, 2013 

 

Service Area Year to date Full Year

Budget       

£m

Actual       

£m Variance

Budget         

£m

Forecast     

£m Variance

EFFICIENCIES

Planning 0.073 0.073 0.000 0.391 0.305 -0.086

Economic Growth Skills & Regen 0.015 0.015 0.000 0.062 0.062 0.000

SUB TOTAL 0.088 0.088 0.000 0.453 0.367 -0.086

CROSS CUTTING EFFICIENCIES

.0000 .0000

.0000 .0000

.0000 .0000

.0000 .0000

SUB TOTAL 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

COMPENSATORY SAVINGS

.0000 .0000

.0000 .0000

SUB TOTAL 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

TOTAL 0.088 0.088 0.000 0.453 0.367 -0.086

 

 

 

A
genda item

 13
P

age 32



APPENDIX C – RESERVES BALANCE & USAGE  JUNE, 2013 

 

Description
Opening 

Balance 

2013/14

 Proposed 

spend 

against 

reserves 

Release of 

reserves 

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves

Proposed 

Closing 

Balance 

2013/14 Notes

REGENERATION AND BUSINESS SUPPORT RESERVES
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Career Development Framework
68 -32 36 Cost of implementing Career Development Framework following decisions in 

2011/12.

External Funded Regeneration reserve

434 -156 278 External funds to support economic participation, regeneration and European 

programmes.

Local Development Framework

100 100

To assist with the cost of developing the new CBC Local Development Framework

Minerals and Waste partnership funds
104 -30 74 Partners income contributions to service costs which are to cover the costs of LDF 

and enforcement inquiries of this shared service which CBC hosts.

Physical Regeneration Projects
31 -19 12 To assist with the costs of stage 2 of Employment sites acceleration project.

Pre-application service development
288 -77 211 Funds to embed pre-application process to give assurance to developers that 

service is adequately resourced and supported.

NIRAH
50 50 Shared reserve with Bedford Borough to support NIRAH project costs.

Woodside Connection options appraisal
50 50 Cost of developing business case for Woodside Connection.

Business growth grants
84 84 External funds and partnership contributions to support business growth. Includes 

match funding for pilot schemes.
Flood defence 264 -264 0 Grant funds received in advance, not ringfenced.

Natural England 
10 10 Grant funds received in advance, not ringfenced.

Building control 76 76 Trading account carry fwd.

Gypsy and traveller 50 50

Total Earmarked Reserves 1,609 -578 0 0 1,031

A
genda item

 13
P

age 33



 

APPENDIX D - AGED DEBT REPORT JUNE, 2013 

 

Debts greater than £10,000 

 

 

Debtor (£'000) Total Debt
Due Current 

Month

1-30 days 31-60 

days

61-90 

days

91-365 

days

1-2 years Over 2 

years

Debtor 1 £116 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £116 £0

Debtor 2 £225 £45 £34 £26 £14 £87 £15 £5

Debtor 3 £137 £0 £6 £36 £0 £0 £95 £0

Debtor 4 £194 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £194 £0

Debtor 5 £150 £0 £0 £0 £0 £150 £0 £0

Debtor 6 £67 £34 £0 £0 £0 £33 £0 £0

Debtor 7 £95 £0 £84 £0 £0 £0 £10 £0

Debtor 8 £70 £0 £0 £0 £0 £70 £0 £0

Debtor 9 £74 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £74 £0

Debtor 10 £91 £0 £0 £68 £0 £0 £22 £0

Debtor 11 £17 £0 £0 £0 £0 £17 £0 £0

Debtor 12 £10 £0 £10 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 13 £11 £0 £10 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 14 £12 £0 £12 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 15 £12 £0 £12 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 16 £30 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30 £0

Debtor 17 £14 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £14 £0

Debtor 18 £31 £0 £0 £0 £0 £12 £0 £19

Debtor 19 £19 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19 £0 £0

Debtor 20 £47 £0 £0 £3 £44 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 21 £12 £0 £0 £12 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 22 £25 £0 £0 £0 £25 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 23 £50 £0 -£50 £0 £99 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 24 £14 £0 £0 £14 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 25 £19 £0 £19 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 26 £26 £0 £0 £26 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 27 £12 £0 £0 £0 £0 £12 £0 £0

Debtor 28 £15 £0 £15 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 29 £14 £0 £14 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 30 £13 £0 £1 £0 £0 £13 £0 £0

Debtor 31 £29 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £29 £0

Debtor 32 £14 £0 £0 £0 £0 £14 £0 £0

Debtor 33 £37 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £37

Debtor 34 £19 £0 £2 £1 £15 £0 £0 £0

Debt > £10,000 £1722 £80 £171 £186 £197 £428 £600 £60  

 

 

 

Agenda item 13
Page 34



 

 

Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Capital Programme Report for Community Services for the 

 quarter ended 30th June, 2013  

Report of: Cllr  Brian Spurr– Executive Member for Community Services 

Summary: Forecast capital expenditure and external funding for 2013/14 as at the 
end of June, 2013. 

 

 

Advising Officer: Marcel Coiffait  - Community Services Director 

Contact Officer: Sue Templeman, Senior Finance Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

The capital programme provides the necessary infrastructure to support the Council 
priorities In particular the  Community Services has direct impact on the stated Council 
priorities of: 

• Enhancing your local community, and 

• Great Universal Services. 

Financial: 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 

Legal: 

All expenditure is in accordance with the Constitution of the Council and Public 
Procurement Regulations. 

Risk Management: 

Outline and detailed business cases ensure that risks are addressed before schemes 
are accepted into the programme. Project Managers oversee delivery risks. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

Community Safety: 

Covered in business cases as relevant 

Sustainability: 

Agenda item 14
Page 35



Resource usage and project outcomes are assessed at business case stage.  

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1.0 that the Overview & Scrutiny Committee note: 

 (a) Forecast capital expenditure of £25,023k and external funding of £6,435k; 

 (b) A full year variance of £4,472k on expenditure and of £1,875k on external 
income resulting in a net variance of £2,597k. 

 

Introduction 

2.0 The Community Services capital programme in 2013/14 is made up of 43 
schemes which includes large groupings of projects that relate to Environmental 
services, Libraries, Leisure and Transport.  

3.1 Overall position 

The directorate forecasts to spend £25,023k and receive external income of 
£6,435k, leaving net spend below budget in 2013/14 of £2,597k.  This includes the 
forecast variance on the BEaR project .  

3.2 Summary Table A 

Table A shows the Directorate’s net budget and forecast by scheme categories for 
2013/14. The scheme categories are broadly related to the type of asset being 
created or enhanced. 

 Table A – Capital budget by Category (£’000) 

 

Scheme Categories

Net 

Expenditure 

Budget

Net 

Expenditure 

Forecast

Net 

Expenditure 

Forecast 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

         Environmental Services 4,950 437 -4,513

         Libraries 202 245 43

         Leisure 4,379 5,041 662

         Transport 11,654 12,865 1,211

Community Services 21,185 18,588 -2,597

Percentage of budget 87.7% 12.3%  

4. Major schemes  

 The Capital Programme is key to delivering the priorities set out in the Medium 
Term Plan, the majority of which were led by the former Sustainable Communities 
directorate. These supported the aim of keeping Central Bedfordshire as a great 
place to live and work. 

 

 

 

Agenda item 14
Page 36



 Environmental Schemes 

 A replacement glass vehicle for the south collection fleet has been purchased. 

 Libraries 

 Capital works are on schedule to be completed by end of March 2014, with the 
work to commence in September after the summer reading challenge period.  

 Leisure 

Work has started at Tiddenfoot leisure centre and is scheduled to be completed by 
the end of the year. Work has also started at Astral Park and scheduled to be 
completed by January 2014. The Flitwick Leisure Centre redevelopment scheme 
is at feasibility stage and on schedule. 

 Transport Schemes 

 A total of 2.177 km of road and 0.876km of footways have been resurfaced. 

 A total of 180 street lighting columns and 430 lanterns have been replaced. 

 The works at Long Lane Culvert have commenced and the Boscombe Road 
gyratory altered layout implemented are on site. 

 

APPENDICES 

 

Appendix 1 – Corporate Capital Summary 2013/14 

Appendix 2 – Community Services Actual as at June, 2013 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

Location of papers: Technology House, Bedford 

Agenda item 14
Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 1 – CORPORATE CAPITAL SUMMARY 2013/14 

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding
Net Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure
External Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding
Net Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditur

e

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditur

e

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Children's Services 27,395 -26,691 704 27,395 -26,691 704 0 0 0 2,626 -2,608 18 2,627 -2,610 17 1 -2 -1 

         Environmental Services 5,367 -417 4,950 806 -369 437 -4,561 48 -4,513 200 -162 38 199 0 199 -1 162 161

         Libraries 202 0 202 245 0 245 43 0 43 0 0 0 5 0 5 5 0 5

         Leisure 6,287 -1,908 4,379 5,041 0 5,041 -1,246 1,908 662 598 -950 -352 239 0 239 -359 950 591

         Transport 17,639 -5,985 11,654 18,931 -6,066 12,865 1,292 -81 1,211 4,288 -1,517 2,772 3,033 -2,060 973 -1,255 -544 -1,799 

Community Services 29,495 -8,310 21,185 25,023 -6,435 18,588 -4,472 1,875 -2,597 5,086 -2,629 2,458 3,476 -2,060 1,416 -1,610 569 -1,042 

Corporate Resources 13,901 -1,500 12,401 13,124 -1,500 11,624 -777 0 -777 961 0 961 1,057 0 1,057 96 0 96

Improvement & Corporate 

Services
4,202 0 4,202 3,881 0 3,881 -321 0 -321 410 0 410 814 0 814 404 0 404

Regeneration 9,136 -5,604 3,532 8,246 -5,480 2,766 -890 124 -766 733 -512 221 2,036 -194 1,842 1,303 318 1,621

Social Care, Health & 

Housing
10,278 -7,269 3,009 9,865 -7,390 2,475 -413 -121 -534 833 -1,179 -346 787 -707 80 -46 472 426

Total Exluding HRA 94,407 -49,374 45,033 87,534 -47,496 40,038 -6,873 1,878 -4,995 10,649 -6,928 3,721 10,797 -5,571 5,226 148 1,357 1,505

HRA 10,895 0 10,895 9,604 0 9,604 -1,291 0 -1,291 996 0 996 870 -10 860 -126 -10 -136 

Total Including HRA 105,302 -49,374 55,928 97,138 -47,496 49,642 -8,164 1,878 -6,286 11,645 -6,928 4,717 11,667 -5,581 6,086 22 1,347 1,369

Directorate

2012/ 13 Capital Programme Budget Full year forecast as at month 3 Full Year Variance

Jun-13

 PROFILED  BUDGET TO DATE  ACTUAL TO DATE VARIANCE TO DATE

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 14
P

age 39



 

 

APPENDIX 2 – COMMUNITY SERVICES ACTUAL AS AT JUNE, 2013 

 

 

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

Gross 

Expenditure

External 

Funding

Net 

Expenditure

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Environmental Services 
200 -162 38 199 0 199 -1 162 161

 Libraries
0 0 0 5 0 5 5 0 5

Leisure
598 -950 -352 239 0 239 -359 950 591

Transport 
4,288 -1,517 2,772 3,033 -2,060 973 -1,255 -544 -1,799 

Community Services
5,086 -2,629 2,458 3,476 -2,060 1,416 -1,610 569 -1,042 

Directorate

Jun-13

 PROFILED  BUDGET TO DATE  ACTUAL TO DATE VARIANCE TO DATE

 

 

A
genda item

 14
P

age 40



 

 

Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Revenue Report for Community Services for the quarter ended 30th 
June, 2013 

Report of: Cllr  Brian Spurr – Executive Member for Community Services 

Summary: Projected outturn of £36,308k resulting in under spend of £117k after the use 
of reserves. 

 

 

Advising Officer: Marcel Coiffait -  Community Services Director  

Contact Officer: Sue Templeman, Senior Finance Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

Sound financial management contributes to the delivery of the Council’s value for money, 
enabling the Council to successfully deliver its priorities. In particular the  Community 
Services has direct impact on the stated Council priorities of: 

• Enhancing your local community, and 

• Great Universal Services. 

Financial: 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 

Legal: 

All expenditure is in accordance with the Constitution of the Council and Public 
Procurement Regulations 

Risk Management: 

All of services have been risk rated, and actions agreed with managers to work within 
budget tolerances. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

A number of minor staffing changes are being implemented in line with resourcing 
proposals approved in the 2013/14 budgets. 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

None 

Agenda item 15
Page 41



Community Safety: 

None 

Sustainability: 

Community Services is one of the lead Directorates with regards to making Central 
Bedfordshire a more sustainable place to live and work.   

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. that the Overview & Scrutiny Committee note: 

 (a) The projected net expenditure outturn of £36,308k; 

 (b) The proposed use of specific reserves of £829k, and 

 (c) The projected under spend of £117k after the use of specific reserves. 

 

Introduction 

1 Community Services directorate manages a gross expenditure budget of £40,679k 
and income budget of £5,083k leaving a net expenditure budget of £35,596k.  

Executive Summary Revenue 

2 Community Services overall financial position is projected £117k under budget after the 
use of earmarked reserves of £829k for one-off specific projects. 

 The Directorate had an annual savings target of £3,729k. At the end of June, the 
savings delivered totalled £715k which is £166k below profile. 

3 Table A shows the full year variance by budget group. The main financial performance 
changes of each group are described in the following paragraphs.  

 Appendices A1 to A3 provide further tables showing estimates and movements by 
services. 

Agenda item 15
Page 42



4 Table A – Directorate Overall Position 

Division
Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

outturn for 

year

Forecast 

variance for 

year (-under) / 

over spend

Forecast 

variance after 

use of 

earmarked 

reserves (-

under) / over 

spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Community Services Director 251 251 0 0

Highways & Transportation 10,328 10,358 30 30

Environmental Services 22,100 22,772 672 -147

Libraries 2,917 2,927 10 0

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 35,596 36,308 712 -117

 

5 Community Services Director  

The Director’s Group has projected a break even position. 

6 Highways & Transportation 

Highways &Transport Division has forecast an overspend of £30k. This largely relates 
to April winter maintenance payments. 

7 Environmental Services  

Environmental Services Division forecasts to be £147k under spent. 

 This is due to small salary savings in each of  the individual services. 

8 Libraries 

 Libraries have projected a break even position. 

Revenue Virements 

9 The Directorate’s net budget has not changed. 

10 Community Services was set an efficiency target of £3,729k. There were savings 
initiatives being implemented across the Directorate.  

 • At the end of June, the Directorate had achieved efficiency savings of £715k which is 
£166k below profile.  The forecast for the year is £3,537k and includes compensatory 
savings of £549k.  Overall, the directorate is below the target by £192k and 
compensatory savings are being investigated. 

Agenda item 15
Page 43



Reserves 

11 It is proposed that £829k of earmarked reserves are used to fund specific one-off 
projects.  A breakdown is provided in Appendix C. 

Debt management 

12 The total debt at the end of June was £308k.  About 68% of debt is less than three 
months old. All debt recovery is in accordance with Council policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table B – Debt Outstanding 

 

Debt profile >£100K >=£50K >=£10K >=£1K <£1K Total

Age 

Ratio

No of debtors 2 0 4 8 40 54

Current £118 £0 £0 £0 £1 £118 38.4%

1 month -£54 £0 £16 £11 £0 -£27 -8.6%

2 months £56 £0 £43 £0 £0 £99 32.1%

3 months £0 £0 £1 £19 £1 £20 6.6%

3-12 months £0 £0 £28 £5 £2 £35 11.3%

> 12 months £0 £0 £46 £0 £17 £62 20.3%

Total Debt £120 £0 £133 £35 £20 £308 100.0%  

 

 

 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix A1 – Revenue Summary Position by Division 

Appendix A2 – Revenue Summary Position by Service    

Appendix A3 – Movement in variance 

Appendix B – Efficiencies 

Appendix C – Earmarked Reserves 

Appendix D – Debt Analysis 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

Location of papers: Technology House, Bedford 

 

 

Agenda item 15
Page 44



 

APPENDIX A1 – NET REVENUE POSITION BY DIVISION JUNE, 2013 

 

Division  Budget Actual 
Use of 

reserves
Variance 

Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Variance

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves

Proposed 

use of 

reserves

Total

Forecast  

Variance after 

use of reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Community Services Director 63 44 0 -19 251 251 0 0 0 0 0

Highways & Transportation 2,424 2,584 0 160 10,328 10,358 30 0 0 0 30

Environmental Services 5,361 5,432 -170 -99 22,100 22,772 672 55 -874 -819 -147

Libraries 729 524 0 -205 2,917 2,927 10 0 -10 -10 0

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 8,577 8,584 -170 -163 35,596 36,308 712 55 -884 -829 -117

Year to date Full Year

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 15
P

age 45



APPENDIX A2 – NET REVENUE POSITION BY SERVICE JUNE, 2013 

 

 

Service  Budget Actual 
Use of 

reserves
Variance 

Approved  

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Variance

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves (+ve)

Proposed 

use of 

reserves (-

ve)

Total

Forecast  

Variance after 

use of reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Community Services Director

Community Services Director 63 44 -19 251 251 0 0 0

Sub Total 63 44 0 -19 251 251 0 0 0 0 0

Highways & Transportation

AD Highways & Transportation 66 8 -58 239 239 0 0 0

Highways Contracts 735 963 228 4,267 4,297 30 0 30

Passenger Transport Services 1,623 1,613 -10 5,822 5,822 0 0 0

Sub Total 2,424 2,584 0 160 10,328 10,358 30 0 0 0 30

Environmental Services

CSPPWL Management 9 36 27 35 30 -5 0 -5

Emergency Planning -20 -7 13 224 196 -28 0 -28

Public Protection 377 403 -72 -46 1,465 1,706 241 -241 -241 0

Community Safety 327 241 -86 1,282 1,387 105 -184 -184 -79

Waste Service 4,410 4,665 -112 143 17,698 18,132 434 -449 -449 -15

Leisure Services 231 232 14 15 1,109 1,034 -75 55 55 -20

Traffic Management 27 -138 -165 287 287 0 0 0

Sub Total 5,361 5,432 -170 -99 22,100 22,772 672 55 -874 -819 -147

Libraries

Libraries 729 524 -205 2,917 2,927 10 -10 -10 0

Sub Total 729 524 0 -205 2,917 2,927 10 0 -10 -10 0

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 8,577 8,584 -170 -163 35,596 36,308 712 55 -884 -829 -117

Cummulative to Date Full Year 

 

A
genda item

 15
P

age 46



 

 

Appendix A3 – Movement in variance 

 

Division

Full Year 

Forecast 

Variance 

June

Full Year 

Forecast 

Variance 

April

Change in 

Variance 

£000 £000 £000

Community Services Director 251 0 251

Highways & Transportation 10,358 0 10,358

Environmental Services 22,772 0 22,772

Libraries 2,927 0 2,927

Total DIRECTORATE Spend 36,308 0 36,308
 

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 15
P

age 47



APPENDIX B – EFFICIENCIES  JUNE, 2013 

 

 

Service Area Year to date Full Year

Budget       

£m

Actual       

£m Variance

Budget         

£m

Forecast     

£m Variance

EFFICIENCIES

Environmental Services 0.559 0.407 -0.152 2.255 1.676 -0.579

Highways & Transport 0.310 0.298 -0.012 1.319 1.268 -0.051

Libraries 0.012 0.010 -0.002 0.155 0.044 -0.111

SUB TOTAL 0.881 0.715 -0.166 3.729 2.988 -0.741

CROSS CUTTING EFFICIENCIES

.0000 .0000

SUB TOTAL 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

COMPENSATORY SAVINGS

Earmarked reserve for Waste .0000 0.449 .4490

Delayed opening of Busway - maintenance
.0000 0.050 .0500

Delayed opening of Busway - concessionary 

fares
.0000 0.050 .0500

.0000 .0000

SUB TOTAL 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.549 0.549

TOTAL 0.881 0.715 -0.166 3.729 3.537 -0.192

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 15
P

age 48



APPENDIX C – RESERVES BALANCE & USAGE  JUNE, 2013 

 

 

Description
Opening 

Balance 

2013/14

 Proposed 

spend 

against 

reserves 

Release of 

reserves 

Proposed 

transfer to 

reserves

Proposed 

Closing 

Balance 

2013/14 Notes

Community Services  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Leisure Centre Reinvestment Fund

89 55 144 Contractual requirement for share of profits from leisure contracts for the 

reinvestment in building and equipment. 

Integrated consumer protection 140 -27 113 To support case management and court action

Transport Fund 125 125 Parking income directed to transport infrastructure improvements.

Community Safety partnership fund
159 -99 60 Contributions from community safety partners, Home Office (IOM), and money held 

on behalf of HMCS relating to cash seizures.

Bedford & Luton Resilience Forum
65 65 Contributions from partners with CBC acting as treasurer to Forum.

PTR2 Business Process Reengineering 11 11 Delivery of new IT solution and business processes.

Arts and theatre service reviews
10 -10 0 External funds and partnership contributions to support business growth. Includes 

installation of digital equipment and relocation of services.

Waste 449 -449 0 Waste reserve

DEFRA grant 53 -53 0 Grant funds received in advance, not ringfenced.

Financial investigation unit 275 -161 114 FIU reserve

Community safety grant
85 -85 0 Grant funds received in advance, not ringfenced.

Total earmarked reserves 1,461 -884 0 55 632
 

 

 

 

 

A
genda item

 15
P

age 49



 

APPENDIX D - AGED DEBT REPORT JUNE, 2013 

 

Debts greater than £10,000 

 

 

Debtor (£'000) Total Debt
Due Current 

Month

1-30 days 31-60 

days

61-90 

days

91-365 

days

1-2 years Over 2 

years
Debtor 1 £120 £118 -£54 £56 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 2 £17 £0 £0 £17 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debtor 3 £40 £0 £4 £0 £1 £12 £17 £7

Debtor 4 £16 £0 £0 £0 £0 £16 £0 £0

Debtor 5 £39 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £39

Debtor 6 £38 £0 £13 £25 £0 £0 £0 £0

Debt > £10,000 £270 £118 -£37 £99 £1 £28 £17 £46  

 

 

 

Agenda item 15
Page 50



 
 

Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Quarter 1 Performance Report 

Report of: Cllr Nigel Young , Executive Member for Sustainable Communities 
– Strategic Planning and Economic Development and  

Cllr Brian Spurr, Executive Member for Sustainable Communities – 
Services 

Summary: The report highlights the Quarter 1 performance from Community 
Services and Regeneration and Business Support 

 

 

Advising Officer: Marcel Coffait, Director of Community Services 

Contact Officer: Iain Melville, Acting Head of Service Development 

Public/Exempt: Public  

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

1. The quarterly Medium Term Plan performance report underpins the delivery of 
all Council priorities. 

Financial: 

2. The indicator set monitors a wide range of indicators, which help to provide an 
understanding of the Council’s effective use of resources. 

Legal: 

3. None. 

Risk Management: 

4. Any areas of ongoing underperformance would be a risk to both service 
delivery and the reputation of the Council. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

5. None. 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

6. This report highlights performance in respect of how the Council and its services 
impact across all communities within Central Bedfordshire, so the specific areas 
of underperformance can be highlighted for further analysis/drilling down as 
necessary. 

Public Health: 

7. Active recreation is included in the indicator set. 

Agenda item 16
Page 51



Community Safety: 

8. The levels of Serious Acquisitive Crime and anti-social behaviour are included in 
the indicator set. 

Sustainability: 

9. Included in the indicator set are abroad range of indicators relating to 
sustainability including those covering employment, access to broadband, 
library usage, active recreation and waste. 

Procurement: 

10. None. 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

The Committee is asked to acknowledge the continuing overall strong 
performance in Quarter 1 for the indicators being used to help support monitoring 
of progress against the Medium Term Plan priorities and to recommend officers to 
further investigate and resolve underperforming indicators as appropriate.:- 

 

Background 

11. This report focuses on a set of indicators that support the monitoring of 
progress against the priorities in the Medium Term Plan (MTP).   

12. The Directors’ Summaries for Quarter 1 are set out below. Appendix A 
provides the detailed performance data. This is the first performance report for 
the new Directorates of Community Services and Regeneration and Business 
Support. 

Director’s Summary 

13. The Community Safety Partnership is developing the strategic assessment for 
2013/14 and will be assessing key community safety risks for the area, including 
Serious Acquisitive Crime (SAC).  The assessment will identify the emerging 
priorities for Central Bedfordshire. 

14. The Integrated Offender Management (IOM) accommodation project has been 
commissioned and work is now underway to secure 10 additional 
accommodation units for offenders in Central Bedfordshire.  Bedfordshire wide 
protocols for IOM accommodation have been drafted and are now with partner 
local authorities for a sign-off process. 

15. The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the Council on a monthly basis 
reviews police response plans to address SAC so as to identify support and 
resources that they can provide to reduce levels of SAC. The CSP also 
organises ‘Pride In events’ that take a proactive approach to addressing crime 
prevention, and advising the public. 

16. CCTV continues to support specific police operations to reduce SAC. The CCTV 
Team is working on the improvements to Dog Kennel Walk in Dunstable to 
include additional CCTV provision supporting reductions in robbery.   The CSP 
is also working in partnership with Bedfordshire Police to introduce additional 
ANPR cameras in Central Bedfordshire to support the detection and prevention 
of crime. 

Agenda item 16
Page 52



17. The Library Service undertook the Adult Plus Survey in Quarter 1 and found that 
satisfaction has improved in all areas between 2009 and 2013. Following the 
refurbishment of all the libraries additional services are now also available. 
Residents can now access over 50 different e-magazines as part of a new 
library service.  As well as modernising the library buildings, the council has also 
considered ways in which we can extend the reach of libraries.  The popularity of 
mobile devices, convince staff that a ‘virtual library’ service, such as e-
magazines, would be well received and demonstrates how we are meeting the 
evolving needs of library users. 

18. The provisional 2012/13 outturn for the percentage of household waste sent for 
recycling has seen a small decrease from the previous year. This is as a result 
of lower green waste from both kerbside and Household Waste Recycling 
Centres. However, as a result of the new waste treatment and disposal contract 
for the north, there has been significant improvements in the percentage of 
municipal waste that is land filled 

19. Regeneration 

The First Quarter 2013 Economic Monitoring Report shows that Central 
Bedfordshire continues to perform above national averages for number of 
working age residents in employment.  Although the reported rate is dropping 
(3.3% above) and is getting closer to the national level as the number of working 
age people in our area continued to grow and more people are deciding to stay 
at home or retire before 65. The global economic conditions are challenging, but 
the Council is working hard to ensure that the number of people in employment 
returns to 5% above the national average by creating the conditions for more 
people to work and live locally.   

20. This is being achieved through engaging with existing employers to stay here 
and grow, recruiting appropriately skilled local people to ensure their business 
thrives. Just as important is to ensure the area continues to attract new 
businesses and investors into the area, this is a vital part of our growth plans to 
increase local job opportunities. Last year approximately 700 net new job 
opportunities were created across Central Bedfordshire at a time when other 
parts of the country witnessed significant decline. 

21. The Adult Skills Service is being refocused on helping more adults into 
employment. The service provides a range of activities to support people into 
work, through Enterprise and Work Clubs, Business Support and start up advice 
to providing skills and training development opportunities to ensure people are 
able to access the opportunities in the local labour market. From April 2012-April 
2013, 1,610 people were supported via our Work Clubs. 

22. The Council also provides ‘Let’s Talk Business’ which is a targeted newsfeed for 
local businesses.  Businesses who sign up to the service will hear about 
financing and funding opportunities; contracts and tenders; networking events; 
business clinics; seminars and workshops and awards and competitions.  The 
Business Timebank service also provides up to 2 hours free 1:1 business advice 
sessions by utilising the local professional services available across the area to 
help support businesses to grow and survive. The Council will also continue the 
programme of high level visits to some of our leading key strategic businesses to 
ensure that we keep in touch with the things that matter to them. 

Agenda item 16
Page 53



23. The Planning Division continues to provide Planning Performance Agreements 
and Pre-Application advice to help ensure positive and timely resolution of 
development schemes.  Residential schemes continue to achieve the CABE 
target for excellent design under the Building for Life criteria. 

24. There has been a drop in the number of affordable housing completions in 
Quarter 1. If that were to continue ‘on trend’ for the remainder of the year, the 
Council would see a lower outturn of affordable homes than the 300 homes 
Medium Term Plan target which has been achieved in previous years. The 
Quarter 1 performance reflects viability constraints on some development 
schemes more recently permitted by the Council, which is restricting the level of 
affordable homes currently being planned into some new schemes. 

25. The Department of Transport has awarded a funding contribution of £5m 
towards the delivery of the Woodside Link road to help ease traffic congestion   
The Woodside Link will connect Houghton Regis and the industrial estates in 
Dunstable to the planned new M1 junction (11a), north of the town.  The scheme 
is one of 62 to receive support from the government’s Local Pinch Point Fund, 
which aims to remove bottlenecks on the local highway network that impede 
growth. 

26. Three building projects supported by the council were winners at the Local 
Authority Building Control (LABC) Building Excellent Awards (Central Region). 
The awards showcase innovative and creative build solutions and judge entries 
on their construction and building control excellence.  The winning entries were 
in the categories of Best Domestic Extension of Alteration (12 Glebe Way, 
Houghton Conquest); Best Large Housing Development – over 10 units (1-15 
Taylor Close, Barton le Clay) and Best Education Development (Cranfield 
University Teaching and Learning Centre). 

27. Cranfield is set to benefit from a new safer cycle route after the Transport 
Minister, Norman Baker, announced that £125k has been allocated to a scheme 
proposed by the Council.  The Council will be making a £66k contribution from 
the Local Area Transport Plan (towards the total cost of £191k). This will enable 
the Cranfield residents to better connect to the University and Technology Park. 

Conclusion and Next Steps  

23. Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes and 
considers this report. 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix A – (Quarter 1 Performance Indicators) 

 

Background papers and their location: (open to public inspection) 

Executive 24 September 2013 

Agenda item 16
Page 54



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
A
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt

M
e
d
iu
m
T
e
rm

P
la
n
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

R
e
p
o
rt
c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
-

D
e
p
e
n
d
s
o
n
th
e
n
a
tu
re
o
f
th
e
in
d
ic
a
to
r

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
o
f
tr
a
v
e
l
(D
o
T
)

R
A
G
s
c
o
re
(S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
c
o
ri
n
g
ru
le
s
u
n
le
s
s
th
e
in
d
ic
a
to
r
s
p
e
c
if
ie
s

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s
c
o
ri
n
g
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
)

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
to
th
e
s
a
m
e
ti
m
e

p
e
ri
o
d
in
th
e
p
re
v
io
u
s
y
e
a
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
is
re
d
u
c
in
g

R
R
E
D
-
ta
rg
e
t
m
is
s
e
d
/
o
ff
ta
rg
e
t
-
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
a
t
le
a
s
t

1
0
%
b
e
lo
w
th
e
re
q
u
ir
e
d
le
v
e
l
o
f
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
o
n

q
u
a
rt
e
r

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
to
th
e
p
re
v
io
u
s

q
u
a
rt
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
re
m
a
in
s
u
n
c
h
a
n
g
e
d

A
A
M
B
E
R
-
ta
rg
e
t
m
is
s
e
d
/
o
ff
ta
rg
e
t
-
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
le
s
s

th
a
n
1
0
%
b
e
lo
w
th
e
re
q
u
ir
e
d
le
v
e
l
o
f
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

A
n
n
u
a
l

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
to
o
n
e
fi
x
e
d
p
o
in
t
in

th
e
p
re
v
io
u
s
y
e
a
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
is
im
p
ro
v
in
g

G
G
R
E
E
N
-
T
a
rg
e
t
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
o
r
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
o
n
tr
a
c
k
to

a
c
h
ie
v
e
ta
rg
e
t

Agenda item 16
Page 55



Overview of performance

Performance information being
reported this quarterRef Indicator

Performance
will be
reported:

Time period Performance

Enhance your local community

A 2 MTP Central Bedfordshire’s Employment rate (People in employment aged 16 to 64) Quarterly
Latest data
Dec 2012 R

A 3 MTP % of approved residential development applications of 10 or more units having CABE excellent design status Quarterly
Quarter 1
2013/14 G

A 4 MTP Number of Serious Acquisitive Crimes. Quarterly
Quarter 1
2013/14 G

A 5 MTP Number of recorded Anti-social Behaviour incidents. Quarterly
Quarter 1
2013/14

Monitor
only

Monitor
only

Better infrastructure

D1a MTP Percentage resident satisfaction with road maintenance
Quarter 1 &
Quarter 2

Res Survey
Spring 2013

NEW R
D1b MTP Percentage resident satisfaction with pavement maintenance

Quarter 1 &
Quarter 2

Res Survey
Spring 2013

NEW A
D 2 MTP Percentage of Central Bedfordshire with access to superfast broadband

Annually in
Quarter 4

D 3 MTP Percentage of Central Bedfordshire with access to at least 2Mb broadband
Annually in
Quarter 4

Great universal services

E 1 MTP Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting Quarterly
Outturn
2012/13
Provisional Provisional

A
Provisional

E 2 MTP Percentage of adults in Central Bedfordshire taking part in sport or active recreation (Active People Survey)
Quarter 1 &
Quarter 3

APS 7
Survey G

E 3 MTP Satisfaction of adults with library services
Annually
Quarter 1

2013 adult
Plus Survey G

E 4 MTP Number of visits to libraries
Annually in
Quarter 1

Outturn
2012/13 R

Agenda item 16
Page 56



E
n
h
a
n
c
e
y
o
u
r
lo
c
a
l
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y

A
2
M
T
P

T
h
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
in
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
(A
g
e
d
1
6
to
6
4
)

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
2
/1
3

L
a
te
s
t

c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
o
n

q
u
a
rt
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

R
U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
O
u
tt
u
rn

(1
0
/
1
1
)

O
u
tt
u
rn

(1
1
/
1
2
)

T
a
rg
e
t

(O
u
tt
u
rn
)

Q
u
1

D
E
C
1
1

Q
u
2

M
A
R
1
2

Q
u
3

J
U
N
1
2

Q
u
4

S
E
P
1
2

T
a
rg
e
t

(O
u
tt
u
rn
)

Q
u
1

D
E
C
1
2

Q
u
2

M
A
R
1
3

Q
u
3

J
U
N
1
3

Q
u
4

S
E
P
1
3

N
u
m
b
e
r
H
ig
h

1
2
5
,0
0
0

(5
,7
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

1
2
6
,7
0
0

(7
.2
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

5
%

a
b
o
v
e

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

A
v
e
ra
g
e

1
2
8
,0
0
0

(7
.1
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

1
2
6
,4
0
0

(6
.4
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

1
2
5
,9
0
0

(6
.0
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

1
2
2
,7
0
0

(3
.6
%

a
b
o
v
e

5
%
a
b
o
v
e

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

A
v
e
ra
g
e

1
2
2
,6
0
0

(3
.3
%

a
b
o
v
e
)

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te

7
0
.2
%

7
0
.3
%

7
0
.4
%

7
0
.7
%

7
0
.9
%

C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te

7
7
.3
%

7
6
.7
%

7
6
.4
%

7
4
.3
%

7
4
.2
%

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te
a
b
o
v
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l

012345678

D
e
c
2
0
1
1

M
a
r
2
0
1
2

Ju
n
2
0
1
2

S
e
p
2
0
1
2

D
e
c
2
0
1
2

M
a
r
2
0
1
3

Ju
n
2
0
1
3

T
a
rg
e
t
(Y
T
D
)

A
ct
u
a
l
(Y
T
D
)

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
C
u
rr
e
n
t
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4
T
h
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
is
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
o
ff
ic
ia
l
la
b
o
u
r
m
a
rk
e
t
s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
p
ro
v
id
e
d
b
y
th
e
O
ff
ic
e
o
f
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
a
n
d
is
th
e
m
o
s
t
re
lia
b
le
d
a
ta
a
v
a
ila
b
le
.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
th
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r

u
s
e
s
a
n
a
v
e
ra
g
e
fo
r
th
e
y
e
a
r
to
th
e
c
lo
s
e
o
f
th
e
q
u
a
rt
e
r
a
n
d
th
e
d
a
ta
is
o
n
ly
a
v
a
ila
b
le
a
t
le
a
s
t
s
ix
m
o
n
th
s
in
a
rr
e
a
rs
.
T
h
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
is
u
s
e
d
b
y
th
e
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
a
n
d
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
T
h
e
m
a
ti
c
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
a
n
d
w
ill
o
n
ly
b
e
d
e
liv
e
re
d

th
ro
u
g
h
jo
in
t
w
o
rk
in
g
b
e
tw
e
e
n
th
e
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
.
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
lly
,
th
e
M
e
d
iu
m
T
e
rm
P
la
n
h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
th
e
ta
rg
e
t
fo
r
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
to
m
a
in
ta
in
a
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te
5
%
p
o
in
ts
a
b
o
v
e
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
(E
n
g
la
n
d
)
le
v
e
l.

T
h
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
in
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
h
a
s
fa
lle
n
b
y
1
0
0
p
e
o
p
le
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
.
T
h
is
e
q
u
a
te
s
to
a
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te
o
f
7
4
.2
%
w
h
ic
h
w
h
ile
a
d
e
c
re
a
s
e
fr
o
m
th
e
p
re
v
io
u
s
q
u
a
rt
e
r
(7
4
.3
%
)
is
s
ti
ll
a
b
o
v
e
E
n
g
la
n
d
(7
0
.9
%
).
T
h
is
m
e
a
n
s

w
e
a
re
3
.3
%
a
b
o
v
e
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
ra
te
.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r
w
e
a
re
b
ro
a
d
ly
in
lin
e
w
it
h
S
o
u
th
E
a
s
t
M
id
la
n
d
s
L
o
c
a
l
E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
a
re
a
(S
E
M
L
E
P
)
(7
4
.7
%
)
a
n
d
th
e
E
a
s
t
o
f
E
n
g
la
n
d
(7
4
.6
%
).
T
h
e
fa
ll
b
e
tw
e
e
n
q
u
a
rt
e
rs
is

d
u
e
to
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
m
a
c
ro
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
u
n
c
e
rt
a
in
ti
e
s
a
n
d
w
it
h
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
th
e
re
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
b
o
th
a
n
in
c
re
a
s
e
o
f
th
o
s
e
w
h
o
a
re
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
in
a
c
ti
v
e
a
n
d
d
o
n
o
t
w
a
n
t
a
jo
b
a
n
d
a
fa
s
te
r
g
ro
w
th
in
th
e
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
n
u
m
e
ra
to
r

th
a
n
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
to
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
le
v
e
l.
(N
B
th
e
s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
a
l
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
le
v
e
l
o
n
th
e
s
e
d
a
ta
a
re
+
/-
3
.7
%
a
n
d
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
fi
g
u
re
s
a
re
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
a
p
re
C
e
n
s
u
s
2
0
1
1
m
o
d
e
l)
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
:
T
h
e
g
lo
b
a
l
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
a
re
c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
,
b
u
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
is
w
o
rk
in
g
h
a
rd
to
e
n
s
u
re
th
a
t
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
in
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
re
tu
rn
s
to
5
%
a
b
o
v
e
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
v
e
ra
g
e
.
T
h
is
is
b
e
in
g
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
th
ro
u
g
h

e
n
g
a
g
in
g
w
it
h
e
x
is
ti
n
g
e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs
o
n
th
e
b
a
rr
ie
rs
to
g
ro
w
th
a
n
d
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
th
e
m
to
g
ro
w
a
n
d
,
a
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
n
e
w
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
a
n
d
in
v
e
s
to
rs
in
to
th
e
a
re
a
to
in
c
re
a
s
e
lo
c
a
l
jo
b
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
.
T
h
e
c
u
rr
e
n
t
a
d
u
lt
s
k
ill
s
s
e
rv
ic
e
is
b
e
in
g

re
fo
c
u
s
e
d
o
n
h
e
lp
in
g
a
d
u
lt
s
in
to
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
ra
n
g
e
o
f
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
to
s
u
p
p
o
rt
p
e
o
p
le
in
to
w
o
rk
,
th
ro
u
g
h
E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
a
n
d
W
o
rk
C
lu
b
s
,
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
S
u
p
p
o
rt
a
n
d
s
ta
rt
u
p
a
d
v
ic
e
to
p
ro
v
id
in
g
s
k
ill
s
a
n
d
tr
a
in
in
g

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
to
e
n
s
u
re
p
e
o
p
le
a
re
a
b
le
to
a
c
c
e
s
s
th
e
la
b
o
u
r
m
a
rk
e
t.
F
ro
m
A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
2
-A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
3
,
1
,6
1
0
p
e
o
p
le
w
e
re
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
v
ia
o
u
r
W
o
rk
C
lu
b
s
.

A
3
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
fo
r
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
o
f
te
n
o
r
m
o
re
u
n
it
s
h
a
v
in
g
C
A
B
E
e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t
d
e
s
ig
n
s
ta
tu
s

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

G
%

H
ig
h

A
ll
d
a
ta
is
c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
fo
r
th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l
y
e
a
r
to
th
e
c
lo
s
e
o
f

th
e
q
u
a
rt
e
r

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4
/

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4
/

O
u
tt
u
rn

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
fo
r
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
o
f
te
n
o
r
m
o
re
u
n
it
s

8
6

4
3

4
/

O
u
tt
u
rn

1
7

9

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
fo
r
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
o
f
te
n
o
r
m
o
re
u
n
it
s
h
a
v
in
g
C
A
B
E

e
x
c
e
lle
n
t
d
e
s
ig
n
s
ta
tu
s

8
6

4
3

4
/

O
u
tt
u
rn

1
7

9

T
a
rg
e
t

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
w
it
h
C
A
B
E

e
x
c
e
lle
n
t
d
e
s
ig
n
s
ta
tu
s

A
c
tu
a
l

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:

C
u
rr
e
n
t
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
re
m
a
in
s
a
t
1
0
0
p
e
rc
e
n
t
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
4
o
f
2
0
1
2
/1
3
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
to
p
ro
v
id
e
P
la
n
n
in
g
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
a
n
d
P
re
-A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
e
rv
ic
e
to
e
n
s
u
re
e
a
rl
y
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
o
f

re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
o
c
c
u
rs
to
a
c
h
ie
v
e
p
la
n
n
in
g
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
s
o
f
e
x
c
e
lle
n
t
q
u
a
lit
y
a
n
d
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
w
it
h
c
u
rr
e
n
t

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
to
e
n
s
u
re
th
a
t
th
e
1
0
0
%
ta
rg
e
t
is
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
.

T
h
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
s
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
o
f
te
n
u
n
it
s
o
r
m
o
re
a
g
a
in
s
t
th
e

B
u
ild
in
g
fo
r
L
if
e
1
2
D
e
s
ig
n
Q
u
a
lit
y
C
ri
te
ri
a
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
la
u
n
c
h
e
d
b
y
th
e

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
fo
r
A
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
re
a
n
d
th
e
B
u
ilt
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
(C
A
B
E
)
in
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
w
it
h

H
o
m
e
B
u
ild
e
rs
F
e
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
n
d
D
e
s
ig
n
fo
r
H
o
m
e
s
.
T
h
is
c
o
v
e
rs
th
e
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
a
lit
y
,

d
e
s
ig
n
a
n
d
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
o
f
b
u
ild
in
g
s
.
It
u
s
e
s
tw
e
lv
e
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
to
e
v
a
lu
a
te
th
e
q
u
a
lit
y

o
f
n
e
w
h
o
u
s
in
g
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
,
w
it
h
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
a
g
a
in
s
t
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g

h
e
a
d
in
g
s
:
In
te
g
ra
ti
n
g
in
to
th
e
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
;
C
re
a
ti
n
g
a
p
la
c
e
a
n
d
S
tr
e
e
t
&
H
o
m
e
.

T
h
e
B
u
ild
in
g
fo
r
L
if
e
1
2
D
e
s
ig
n
Q
u
a
lit
y
C
ri
te
ri
a
re
fl
e
c
ts
o
u
r
v
is
io
n
o
f
w
h
a
t
n
e
w
h
o
u
s
in
g

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
s
h
o
u
ld
b
e
:
a
tt
ra
c
ti
v
e
,
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
a
l
a
n
d
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
p
la
c
e
s
.
It
is
b
a
s
e
d
o
n

th
e
n
e
w
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
P
la
n
n
in
g
P
o
lic
y
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
a
n
d
th
e
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t’
s
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t
to

b
u
ild
m
o
re
h
o
m
e
s
,
b
e
tt
e
r
h
o
m
e
s
a
n
d
in
v
o
lv
e
lo
c
a
l
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
in
p
la
n
n
in
g
.

E
a
c
h
p
la
n
n
in
g
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
w
h
ic
h
fa
lls
w
it
h
in
th
e
c
ri
te
ri
a
is
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
a
s
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e

d
e
te
rm
in
a
ti
o
n
p
ro
c
e
s
s
.

Agenda item 16
Page 57



A
4
M
T
P

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
s
e
ri
o
u
s
a
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
c
ri
m
e
s
–
(S
e
ri
o
u
s
a
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
c
ri
m
e
(S
A
C
)
in
c
lu
d
e
s
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
b
u
rg
la
ry
,
ro
b
b
e
ry
,
th
e
ft
o
f
m
o
to
r
v
e
h
ic
le
a
n
d
th
e
ft
fr
o
m
m
o
to
r
v
e
h
ic
le
)

U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

G
N
u
m
b
e
r

L
o
w

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

T
a
rg
e
t

1
3
.3

2
.8

2
.8

3
.0

3
.2

1
1
.8

R
a
te
p
e
r
1
,0
0
0
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

1
3
.1

1
0
.6

1
.9

2
.0

2
.7

3
.1

9
.7

2
.6

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
S
A
C
c
ri
m
e
s

4
8
8

5
0
6

6
8
2

7
8
9

2
4
6
5

6
7
1

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
fi
g
u
re

2
5
5
.6

2
5
5
.6

2
5
5
.6

2
5
5
.6

2
5
5
.6

2
5
5
.6

R
a
te
o
f
S
e
ri
o
u
s
A
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
C
ri
m
e
s

01345

Ju
n
2
0
1
2

S
e
p
2
0
1
2

D
e
c
2
0
1
2

M
a
r
2
0
1
3

Ju
n
2
0
1
3

T
a
rg
e
t

A
ct
u
a
l

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
C
u
rr
e
n
t
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
2
0
1
2
/1
3
h
a
s
s
e
e
n
a
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
in
th
e
o
v
e
ra
ll
ra
te
,
Q
4
h
a
s
s
e
e
n
a
ri
s
e
a
n
d
th
is
h
a
s
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
in
Q
1
.
T
h
e
in
c
re
a
s
e
s
re
fl
e
c
te
d
a
s
e
ri
e
s
o
f
b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
w
h
e
re

o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
tr
a
v
e
lle
d
in
to
o
u
r
a
re
a
to
c
o
m
m
it
o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
.
A
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
rr
e
s
ts
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
m
a
d
e
a
n
d
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
a
re
o
n
-g
o
in
g
.
T
h
e
M
T
P
ta
rg
e
t
o
f
1
1
.8
c
ri
m
e
s
p
e
r
1
,0
0
0
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
s
e
t
fo
r
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.
T
h
is
w
ill
b
e

c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
a
s
it
w
ill
n
e
e
d
a
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
fo
c
u
s
o
n
d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
a
n
d
in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
w
h
ic
h
is
re
s
o
u
rc
e
in
te
n
s
iv
e
,
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
if
s
o
m
e
o
f
th
e
o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
c
o
m
m
it
te
d
a
re
b
y
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
g
a
n
g
s
,
a
t
a
ti
m
e
w
h
e
n
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
a
re
a
lr
e
a
d
y
s
tr
e
tc
h
e
d
.

P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
w
o
rk
w
ill
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
b
u
t
th
e
k
e
y
to
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
th
e
re
v
is
e
d
ta
rg
e
t
w
ill
b
e
in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
le
d
ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
o
f
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
a
c
ti
o
n
s
:
T
h
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
S
a
fe
ty
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
is
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
th
e
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
fo
r
2
0
1
3
/1
4
a
n
d
w
ill
b
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
k
e
y
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
s
a
fe
ty
ri
s
k
s
fo
r
th
e
a
re
a
,
in
c
lu
d
in
g
S
A
C
.
T
h
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
w
ill
id
e
n
ti
fy
th
e

e
m
e
rg
in
g
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
fo
r
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
.

T
h
e
In
te
g
ra
te
d
O
ff
e
n
d
e
r
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
(I
O
M
)
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
p
ro
je
c
t
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
a
n
d
w
o
rk
is
n
o
w
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
to
s
e
c
u
re
1
0
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
u
n
it
s
fo
r
o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
.
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
w
id
e

p
ro
to
c
o
ls
fo
r
IO
M
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
d
ra
ft
e
d
a
n
d
a
re
n
o
w
w
it
h
p
a
rt
n
e
r
lo
c
a
l
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
fo
r
a
s
ig
n
-o
ff
p
ro
c
e
s
s
.

T
h
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
S
a
fe
ty
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
(C
S
P
)
a
n
d
c
o
u
n
c
il
re
v
ie
w
p
o
lic
e
re
s
p
o
n
s
e
p
la
n
s
to
a
d
d
re
s
s
S
A
C
m
o
n
th
ly
a
n
d
id
e
n
ti
fy
s
u
p
p
o
rt
a
n
d
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
th
a
t
th
e
y
c
a
n
p
ro
v
id
e
to
re
d
u
c
e
le
v
e
ls
o
f
S
A
C
a
n
d
th
e
C
S
P
o
rg
a
n
is
e
s
P
ri
d
e
In

e
v
e
n
ts
th
a
t
ta
k
e
a
p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
to
a
d
d
re
s
s
in
g
c
ri
m
e
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
,
a
n
d
a
d
v
is
in
g
th
e
p
u
b
lic
.
T
h
e
C
S
P
s
e
n
d
s
o
u
t
re
g
u
la
r
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
s
a
fe
ty
m
e
s
s
a
g
e
s
p
ro
v
id
in
g
a
d
v
ic
e
o
n
s
a
fe
ty
a
n
d
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
C
C
T
V
T
e
a
m
is
w
o
rk
in
g

o
n
th
e
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
to
D
o
g
K
e
n
n
e
lW
a
lk
in
D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
to
in
c
lu
d
e
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
C
C
T
V
p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
in
ro
b
b
e
ry
.
C
C
T
V
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
to
s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
p
e
c
if
ic
p
o
lic
e
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
to
re
d
u
c
e
S
A
C
.
T
h
e
C
S
P
is
a
ls
o
w
o
rk
in
g
in

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
w
it
h
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
P
o
lic
e
to
in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
A
N
P
R
c
a
m
e
ra
s
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
to
s
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
a
n
d
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
o
f
c
ri
m
e
.

A
5
M
T
P

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
re
c
o
rd
e
d
A
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l
B
e
h
a
v
io
u
r
in
c
id
e
n
ts

U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
2
/1
3

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

M
o
n
it
o
r

o
n
ly

M
o
n
it
o
r

o
n
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

L
o
w

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

T
a
rg
e
t
1
0
%

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
fr
o
m

2
0
1
1
/1
2

1
0
,4
5
2

A
c
tu
a
l
n
u
m
b
e
r

o
f
re
c
o
rd
e
d

in
c
id
e
n
ts

1
2
,1
3
2

1
0
,7
2
0
2
,5
3
0

2
,8
3
3

1
,8
4
3

1
,7
9
6

E
s
ti
m
a
te

N
A

1
,8
0
5

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:

C
u
rr
e
n
t
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
:
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.
F
o
llo
w
in
g
th
e
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
p
o
lic
e
’s
n
e
w
tr
ia
g
e
p
ro
c
e
s
s
fo
r
A
S
B
in
Q
3
it
w
ill
n
o
t
b
e
p
o
s
s
ib
le
to
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
a
b
a
s
e
lin
e
d
a
ta
fo
r
A
S
B
u
n
ti
l
d
a
ta
fo
r
4
fu
ll
q
u
a
rt
e
rs

h
a
s
b
e
e
n
re
c
o
rd
e
d
a
n
d
a
s
s
u
c
h
it
is
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
to
s
h
o
w
w
h
e
th
e
r
A
S
B
le
v
e
ls
h
a
v
e
fa
lle
n
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
.
It
w
a
s
e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
th
a
t
th
e
n
e
w
tr
ia
g
e
s
y
s
te
m
w
o
u
ld
re
s
u
lt
in
re
c
o
rd
e
d
in
c
id
e
n
ts
fa
lli
n
g
b
y
a
ro
u
n
d
3
0
%
fr
o
m
th
e

im
p
ro
v
e
d
re
c
o
rd
in
g
.
O
n
th
a
t
b
a
s
is
th
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
fi
g
u
re
s
a
re
v
e
ry
s
lig
h
tl
y
h
ig
h
e
r
th
a
n
w
o
u
ld
b
e
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
,
h
o
w
e
v
e
r
A
S
B
le
v
e
ls
a
re
a
ff
e
c
te
d
b
y
s
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
tr
e
n
d
s
in
c
lu
d
in
g
th
e
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
in
d
a
y
lig
h
t
h
o
u
rs
a
n
d

s
c
h
o
o
l
h
o
lid
a
y
s
,
b
o
th
o
f
w
h
ic
h
o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
e
a
rl
y
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
a
c
ti
o
n
s
:
T
h
e
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
S
a
fe
ty
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
(C
S
P
)
is
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
th
e
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
fo
r
2
0
1
3
/1
4
a
n
d
w
ill
b
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
k
e
y
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
s
a
fe
ty
ri
s
k
s
fo
r
th
e
a
re
a
,
in
c
lu
d
in
g
A
S
B
.
T
h
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t

w
ill
id
e
n
ti
fy
th
e
e
m
e
rg
in
g
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
fo
r
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
.

T
h
e
C
S
P
w
ill
b
e
im
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
th
e
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
fr
o
m
th
e
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
A
S
B
R
A
C
th
ro
u
g
h
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.
T
h
is
w
ill
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
th
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
o
u
r
e
x
is
ti
n
g
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
a
n
d
a
d
d
re
s
s

re
p
e
a
t
in
c
id
e
n
ts
o
f
A
S
B
.
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
w
ill
a
ls
o
b
e
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
a
n
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
re
s
o
u
rc
e
to
s
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
T
ro
u
b
le
d
F
a
m
ili
e
s
a
g
e
n
d
a
a
n
d
p
ro
v
id
e
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
fo
r
th
e
c
o
u
n
c
il
A
S
B
te
a
m

Agenda item 16
Page 58



B
e
tt
e
r
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
-
im
p
ro
v
e
d
ro
a
d
s
,
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
re
a
c
h
a
n
d
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

D
1
a
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
.
(D
a
ta
ta
k
e
n
fr
o
m
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
tw
ic
e
a
y
e
a
r
in
A
p
ri
l
a
n
d
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r
)

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

A
p
ri
l
a
n
d

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

N
E
W

R
%

H
ig
h

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

S
p
ri
n
g
2
0
1
3

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1

2
0
1
3
/1
4

A
c
tu
a
l

A
u
tu
m
n
2
0
1
3

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
2

2
0
1
3
/1
4

A
c
tu
a
l

S
p
ri
n
g
2
0
1
4

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1

2
0
1
3
/1
4

T
a
rg
e
t

3
0
%

3
0
%

3
2
%

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

A
c
tu
a
l

2
6
%

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
P
re
v
io
u
s
ly
w
e
a
s
k
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
,
w
e
h
a
v
e
n
o
w
s
p
lit
th
is

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
to
a
s
k
a
b
o
u
t
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
s
o
th
a
t
w
e
c
a
n
c
o
m
p
a
re
o
u
r
re
s
u
lt
to
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
L
G
A

p
o
ll.
A
s
k
in
g
a
b
o
u
t
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
h
a
s
s
h
o
w
n
th
a
t
ro
a
d
s
a
re
m
o
re
o
f
a
n
is
s
u
e
fo
r
o
u
r

re
s
id
e
n
ts
w
it
h
o
n
ly
2
6
%
b
e
in
g
s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
.

T
h
e
ta
rg
e
ts
a
re
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
a
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
ra
te
o
f
3
6
%
fo
r
ro
a
d
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
b
y
2
0
1
5
/1
6

T
h
e
o
ri
g
in
a
l
in
d
ic
a
to
r
u
s
e
d
to
m
o
n
it
o
r
th
is
a
s
p
e
c
t
o
f
th
e
M
e
d
iu
m
T
e
rm
P
la
n
w
a
s
D
1
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s
,
m
o
n
it
o
re
d
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e

R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
.
T
o
a
id
in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
re
s
u
lt
s
th
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
in
th
e
la
te
s
t
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s

S
u
rv
e
y
(A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
3
)
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
s
e
p
a
ra
te
d
in
to
tw
o
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
.

D
1
a
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

D
1
b
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

W
h
ils
t
n
o
t
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le
th
e
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
re
s
u
lt
s
fo
r
D
1
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s
a
re
in
c
lu
d
e
d
in
th
e
ta
b
le
b
e
lo
w
.

B
a
s
e
lin
e
2
0
1
1

S
e
p
t
2
0
1
2

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s

2
6
%

3
1
%

D
1
b
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
.
(D
a
ta
ta
k
e
n
fr
o
m
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
tw
ic
e
a
y
e
a
r
in
A
p
ri
l
a
n
d
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r
)

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

A
p
ri
l
a
n
d

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

N
E
W

A
%

H
ig
h

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

S
p
ri
n
g
2
0
1
3

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1

2
0
1
3
/1
4

A
c
tu
a
l

A
u
tu
m
n
2
0
1
3

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
2

2
0
1
3
/1
4

A
c
tu
a
l

S
p
ri
n
g
2
0
1
4

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1

2
0
1
3
/1
4

T
a
rg
e
t

5
3
%

5
3
%

5
5
%

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

A
c
tu
a
l

5
1
%

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
P
re
v
io
u
s
ly
w
e
a
s
k
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
,
w
e
h
a
v
e
n
o
w
s
p
lit
th
is

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
to
a
s
k
a
b
o
u
t
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
s
o
th
a
t
w
e
c
a
n
c
o
m
p
a
re
o
u
r
re
s
u
lt
to
th
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
L
G
A

p
o
ll.
A
s
k
in
g
a
b
o
u
t
ro
a
d
s
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
h
a
s
s
h
o
w
n
th
a
t
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
a
re
n
o
t
a
s
m
u
c
h
o
f
a
n
is
s
u
e

fo
r
o
u
r
re
s
id
e
n
ts
w
it
h
5
1
%
b
e
in
g
s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
.
N
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
is
5
7
%
(2
0
1
2
L
G
A
p
o
ll)
.

T
h
e
ta
rg
e
ts
a
re
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
a
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
ra
te
o
f
5
7
%
fo
r
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
b
y

2
0
1
5
/1
6

T
h
e
o
ri
g
in
a
l
in
d
ic
a
to
r
u
s
e
d
to
m
o
n
it
o
r
th
is
a
s
p
e
c
t
o
f
th
e
M
e
d
iu
m
T
e
rm
P
la
n
w
a
s
D
1
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s
,
m
o
n
it
o
re
d
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e

R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
.
T
o
a
id
in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
re
s
u
lt
s
th
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
in
th
e
la
te
s
t
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s

S
u
rv
e
y
(A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
3
)
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
s
e
p
a
ra
te
d
in
to
tw
o
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
.

D
1
a
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

D
1
b
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

W
h
ils
t
n
o
t
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le
th
e
R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y
re
s
u
lt
s
fo
r
D
1
M
T
P
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s
a
re
in
c
lu
d
e
d
in
th
e
ta
b
le
b
e
lo
w
.

B
a
s
e
lin
e
2
0
1
1

S
e
p
t
2
0
1
2

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
re
s
id
e
n
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h
ro
a
d
a
n
d
p
a
v
e
m
e
n
t
re
p
a
ir
s

2
6
%

3
1
%

In
d
ic
a
to
rs
D
2
M
T
P
a
n
d
D
3
M
T
P
a
re
b
o
th
a
n
n
u
a
l
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
re
p
o
rt
e
d
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
4
.
T
h
e
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
ta
b
le
s
fo
r
b
o
th
th
e
s
e
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
a
re
s
h
o
w
n
th
is
q
u
a
rt
e
r
a
s
th
e
re
a
re
u
p
d
a
te
s
to
th
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
b
o
th

th
e
s
e
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
.

Agenda item 16
Page 59



D
2
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
w
it
h
a
c
c
e
s
s
to
s
u
p
e
rf
a
s
t
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

E
s
ti
m
a
te
d
R
o
ll
O
u
t

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
re
p
o
rt
e
d
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
4

%
H
ig
h

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

2
0
1
4
/1
5

2
0
1
5
/1
6

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

M
o
n
it
o
r

o
n
ly

T
a
rg
e
t

9
0

N
u
m
b
e
r

D
e
n
o
m
in
a
to
r

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e

w
it
h
a
c
c
e
s
s
to
s
u
p
e
rf
a
s
t
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
–

e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
p
ri
v
a
te
s
e
c
to
r
ro
ll
o
u
t
b
y

2
0
1
5

A
c
tu
a
l

7
3
.8

7
5
.5

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:

T
h
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
w
o
rk
in
g
c
lo
s
e
ly
w
it
h
e
x
is
ti
n
g
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
to
m
a
x
im
is
e
th
e
ir
c
u
rr
e
n
t
ro
llo
u
t
p
la
n
s
.
A
s
s
u
c
h
B
T
h
a
s
a
lr
e
a
d
y
u
p
g
ra
d
e
d
e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
in
B
ig
g
le
s
w
a
d
e
,
L
e
ig
h
to
n
B
u
z
z
a
rd
,

S
a
n
d
y
,
D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
a
n
d
S
to
tf
o
ld
,
a
n
d
h
a
s
re
c
e
n
tl
y
a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
th
e
u
p
g
ra
d
e
o
f
th
e
W
o
b
u
rn
S
a
n
d
s
,
W
h
ip
s
n
a
d
e
a
n
d
S
h
e
ff
o
rd
e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
.
T
h
e
s
e
re
c
e
n
t
a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
w
ill
h
a
v
e
th
e
im
p
a
c
t
o
f
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
th
e

a
c
c
e
s
s
.

T
h
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
h
a
s
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
a
jo
in
t
lo
c
a
l
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
p
la
n
w
it
h
M
ilt
o
n
K
e
y
n
e
s
a
n
d
B
e
d
fo
rd
C
o
u
n
c
ils
s
e
tt
in
g
o
u
t
it
s
v
is
io
n
to
a
c
h
ie
v
e
9
0
%
c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
o
f
N
e
x
t
G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
A
c
c
e
s
s
(N
G
A
–
S
p
e
e
d
s
g
re
a
te
r
th
a
n
2
4

m
e
g
a
b
it
s
p
e
r
s
e
c
o
n
d
)
a
n
d
e
n
s
u
re
1
0
0
%
a
c
c
e
s
s
to
s
p
e
e
d
s
o
f
2
m
e
g
a
b
it
s
p
e
r
s
e
c
o
n
d
b
y
2
0
1
5
.
T
h
e
c
o
u
n
c
il
is
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
u
ti
lis
in
g
th
e
B
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
D
e
liv
e
ry
U
K
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
to
s
e
le
c
t
a
p
ri
v
a
te

s
e
c
to
r
p
a
rt
n
e
r
to
in
s
ta
ll
th
e
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
to
m
e
e
t
o
u
r
g
o
a
ls
.
T
h
e
o
u
tc
o
m
e
o
f
th
is
p
ro
c
e
s
s
is
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
b
y
th
e
e
n
d
o
f
A
u
g
u
s
t
2
0
1
3
.

D
3
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
w
it
h
a
c
c
e
s
s
to
a
t
le
a
s
t
2
M
b
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

M
o
n
it
o
r

o
n
ly

%
H
ig
h

2
0
1
1
/1
2

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
1
2
/1
3

(R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
in

Q
u
4
re
p
o
rt
)

2
0
1
3
/1
4

(R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
in

Q
u
4
re
p
o
rt
)

2
0
1
4
/1
5

(R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
in

Q
u
4
re
p
o
rt
)

2
0
1
5
/1
6

(R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
in

Q
u
4
re
p
o
rt
)

T
a
rg
e
t

1
0
0

N
u
m
b
e
r

D
e
n
o
m
in
a
to
r

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f

C
e
n
tr
a
l

B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
w
it
h

a
c
c
e
s
s
to
a
t
le
a
s
t

2
M
b
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
–

e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
p
ri
v
a
te

s
e
c
to
r
ro
ll
o
u
t
b
y

2
0
1
5

A
c
tu
a
l

8
9
.5

9
7
.8

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
h
a
s
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
a
jo
in
t
lo
c
a
l
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
p
la
n
w
it
h
M
ilt
o
n
K
e
y
n
e
s
a
n
d
B
e
d
fo
rd
C
o
u
n
c
ils

s
e
tt
in
g
o
u
t
it
s
v
is
io
n
to
a
c
h
ie
v
e
9
0
%
c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
o
f
N
e
x
t
G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
A
c
c
e
s
s
(N
G
A
–
S
p
e
e
d
s
g
re
a
te
r
th
a
n
2
4

m
e
g
a
b
it
s
p
e
r
s
e
c
o
n
d
)
a
n
d
e
n
s
u
re
1
0
0
%
a
c
c
e
s
s
to
s
p
e
e
d
s
o
f
2
m
e
g
a
b
it
s
p
e
r
s
e
c
o
n
d
b
y
2
0
1
5
.
T
h
e
c
o
u
n
c
il
is

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
u
ti
lis
in
g
th
e
B
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
D
e
liv
e
ry
U
K
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
to
s
e
le
c
t
a
p
ri
v
a
te
s
e
c
to
r

p
a
rt
n
e
r
to
in
s
ta
ll
th
e
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
to
m
e
e
t
o
u
r
g
o
a
ls
.
T
h
e
o
u
tc
o
m
e
o
f
th
is
p
ro
c
e
s
s
is
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
b
y

th
e
e
n
d
o
f
A
u
g
u
s
t
2
0
1
3
.

T
h
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
a
n
d
n
o
n
-r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
p
re
m
is
e
s
w
h
ic
h
a
re

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
b
y
th
e
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
to
e
n
a
b
le
th
e
m
to
a
c
c
e
s
s
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
s
e
rv
ic
e
s

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
a
t
2
M
e
g
a
b
it
s
p
e
r
s
e
c
o
n
d
o
r
fa
s
te
r.
T
h
is
is
c
o
n
v
e
rt
e
d
in
to
a
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
a
g
a
in
s
t
th
e

to
ta
l
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
a
n
d
n
o
n
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l
p
re
m
is
e
s
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
.
It
is
n
o
t
a

m
e
a
s
u
re
o
f
th
e
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
o
f
in
d
iv
id
u
a
l
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
u
s
e
rs
.
U
p
d
a
te
d
d
a
ta
is

a
v
a
ila
b
le
a
n
n
u
a
lly
.
T
h
e
fi
g
u
re
s
u
s
e
d
a
re
e
s
ti
m
a
te
s
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
th
e
p
re
d
ic
te
d
ro
ll
o
u
t
p
la
n
s
o
f

p
ri
v
a
te
s
e
rv
ic
e
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
to
2
0
1
5
.
F
o
r
2
0
1
1
/1
2
th
is
w
a
s
e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
to
b
e
8
9
.5
%
a
n
d
fo
r
2
0
1
2
/1
3

w
a
s
e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
to
b
e
9
7
.8
%
.
A
s
c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
s
a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
to
p
la
n
s
th
e
fi
g
u
re
s
w
ill
b
e

u
p
d
a
te
d
.

Agenda item 16
Page 60



G
re
a
t
u
n
iv
e
rs
a
l
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
-
B
in
s
,
le
is
u
re
a
n
d
lib
ra
ri
e
s

E
1
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
w
a
s
te
s
e
n
t
fo
r
re
c
y
c
li
n
g

U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

4
7
.8
%

P
W
C

2
0
0
9
/1
0

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
%

H
ig
h

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
w
a
s
te
s
e
n
t
fo
r
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
,

re
u
s
e
o
r
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g

1
6
,3
8
1

to
n
n
e
s

1
6
,9
8
8

to
n
n
e
s

1
2
,7
7
3

to
n
n
e
s

1
0
,7
5
2

to
n
n
e
s

5
6
,8
9
4

to
n
n
e
s

T
o
ta
l
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
w
a
s
te
c
o
ll
e
c
te
d

(r
e
s
id
u
a
l
a
n
d
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
)

3
0
,7
1
2

to
n
n
e
s

3
0
,9
8
8

to
n
n
e
s

2
6
,0
2
1

to
n
n
e
s

2
4
,5
6
6

to
n
n
e
s

1
1
2
,2
8
8

to
n
n
e
s

T
a
rg
e
t

5
1

5
1

A
c
tu
a
l

5
0
.3
0

5
1
.6

5
3
.2

5
4
.2

5
0
.2

4
6
.4

5
1
.1

5
3
.3

5
4
.8

4
9
.1

P
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l

4
3
.8

P
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l

5
0
.7

P
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:

D
u
e
to
e
x
te
rn
a
l
v
e
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
o
f
d
a
ta
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
W
a
s
te
D
a
ta
F
lo
w
s
y
s
te
m
th
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
3
a
n
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
4
fi
g
u
re
s
a
re
p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l.
T
h
e
re
d
u
c
e
d
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
is
a
s
a
re
s
u
lt
o
f
lo
w
e
r
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
te
fr
o
m
b
o
th
k
e
rb
s
id
e

a
n
d
H
W
R
C
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
s
d
u
e
to
th
e
b
a
d
w
e
a
th
e
r
re
d
u
c
in
g
g
ro
w
th
.
T
h
e
re
h
a
s
a
ls
o
b
e
e
n
re
d
u
c
e
d
to
n
n
a
g
e
c
o
m
in
g
in
to
th
e
H
W
R
C
s
d
u
e
to
b
a
d
w
e
a
th
e
r
im
p
a
c
ti
n
g
o
n
s
it
e
u
s
a
g
e
.
T
h
is
u
n
fo
rt
u
n
a
te
ly
o
u
tw
e
ig
h
e
d
th
e

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
re
c
y
c
lin
g
g
a
in
e
d
fr
o
m
th
e
n
o
rt
h
re
s
id
u
a
l
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t.

H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
th
e
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
3
a
n
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
4
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
fo
r
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l
w
a
s
te
th
a
t
is
la
n
d
fi
lle
d
h
a
s
im
p
ro
v
e
d
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
d
u
e
to
th
e
lo
w
e
r
a
m
o
u
n
t
o
f
re
s
id
u
a
l
w
a
s
te
g
o
in
g
to
la
n
d
fi
ll
a
s
a
re
s
u
lt
o
f
th
e
n
e
w
re
s
id
u
a
l

w
a
s
te
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t
a
n
d
d
is
p
o
s
a
l
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t
fo
r
th
e
n
o
rt
h
w
h
ic
h
c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
O
c
to
b
e
r
1
2
.
T
h
e
p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l
y
e
a
r
e
n
d
o
u
tt
u
rn
is
4
0
.0
%
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
to
th
e
1
1
/1
2
o
u
tt
u
rn
o
f
4
6
.1
%

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:
T
h
e
ta
rg
e
t
in
th
e
M
T
P
is
to
re
a
c
h
6
0
%
b
y
2
0
2
0
w
h
ic
h
is
b
e
in
g
d
e
liv
e
re
d
th
ro
u
g
h
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
to
e
x
is
ti
n
g
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
a
n
d
H
W
R
C
c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
,
th
e
n
e
w
in
te
ri
m
re
s
id
u
a
l
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t
a
n
d
d
is
p
o
s
a
l

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
a
n
d
a
ls
o
th
e
B
E
a
R
p
ro
je
c
t
w
h
ic
h
w
ill
p
ro
v
id
e
1
n
e
w
a
n
d
3
im
p
ro
v
e
d
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
W
a
s
te
R
e
c
y
c
lin
g
C
e
n
tr
e
s
,
re
c
o
v
e
ry
o
f
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
fr
o
m
re
s
id
u
a
l
w
a
s
te
,
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
o
f
o
rg
a
n
ic
w
a
s
te
a
n
d
th
e
ro
ll
o
u
t
o
f

fo
o
d
w
a
s
te
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
to
th
e
s
o
u
th
o
f
C
B
C
.

E
2
M
T
P

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
a
d
u
lt
s
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
ta
k
in
g
p
a
rt
in
s
p
o
rt
o
r
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
.
(D
a
ta
ta
k
e
n
fr
o
m
th
e
A
c
ti
v
e
P
e
o
p
le
’s
S
u
rv
e
y
)

U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

G
%

H
ig
h

A
P
S
4
/
5

O
c
t
2
0
0
8
to
O
c
t
2
0
1
1

A
P
S
5
/6

O
c
t
2
0
1
0
to
O
c
t
2
0
1
2

A
P
S
5
Q
3
to
A
P
S
7
Q
2
A
P
S
7

A
p
r
2
0
1
1
to
A
p
r
2
0
1
3
(R
o
ll
in
g

2
4
M
o
n
th
P
e
ri
o
d

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
a
d
u
lt
s
in
C
e
n
tr
a
l

B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
ta
k
in
g
p
a
rt
in
s
p
o
rt

o
r
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n

2
2
.5
%

2
4
.7
%

2
3
.4
%

B
e
s
t
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g

3
0
.8
%

3
1
.8
%

3
1
.6
%

A
v
e
ra
g
e

2
2
.3
%

2
2
.6
%

2
2
.3
%

A
ll
E
n
g
li
s
h

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s

W
o
rs
t
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g

1
3
.4
%

1
4
.3
%

1
4
.7
%

T
a
rg
e
t
to
re
m
a
in
a
b
o
v
e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l

a
v
e
ra
g
e

0
.2
%
a
b
o
v
e

2
.1
%
a
b
o
v
e

1
.1
%
a
b
o
v
e

T
o
le
ra
n
c
e

G
re
e
n
if
e
q
u
a
ls
to
o
r
a
b
o
v
e

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
v
e
ra
g
e
,
re
d
if

b
e
lo
w
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
v
e
ra
g
e

D
a
ta
C
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
(i
e

N
u
m
b
e
r/
D
e
n
o
m
in
a
to
r)

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
n
ly

T
h
e
A
c
ti
v
e
P
e
o
p
le
S
u
rv
e
y
(A
P
S
),
c
a
rr
ie
d
o
u
t
b
y
S
p
o
rt
E
n
g
la
n
d
,
is
th
e
la
rg
e
s
t
s
u
rv
e
y

o
f
s
p
o
rt
a
n
d
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
in
E
u
ro
p
e
.
It
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
h
o
w
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
in

s
p
o
rt
a
n
d
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
v
a
ri
e
s
fr
o
m
p
la
c
e
to
p
la
c
e
a
n
d
b
e
tw
e
e
n
d
if
fe
re
n
t
g
ro
u
p
s
in

th
e
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
.

T
h
e
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
h
o
w
s
th
e
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e
a
d
u
lt
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
(a
g
e
1
6
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
o
v
e
r)

in
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
w
h
o
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
in
s
p
o
rt
a
n
d
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
,
a
t
m
o
d
e
ra
te

in
te
n
s
it
y
,
fo
r
a
t
le
a
s
t
3
0
m
in
u
te
s
o
n
a
t
le
a
s
t
1
2
d
a
y
s
o
u
t
o
f
th
e
la
s
t
4
w
e
e
k
s

(e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t
to
3
0
m
in
u
te
s
o
n
3
o
r
m
o
re
d
a
y
s
a
w
e
e
k
).

Agenda item 16
Page 61



C
o
m
m
e
n
t:

T
h
e
la
te
s
t
re
s
u
lt
s
re
la
te
to
A
c
ti
v
e
P
e
o
p
le
S
u
rv
e
y
7
(A
p
r
2
0
1
1
to
A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
3
)
w
e
re
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
o
n
1
3
th
J
u
n
e
2
0
1
3
w
it
h
a

re
s
u
lt
fo
r
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
o
f
2
3
.4
%
.
F
u
ll
A
c
ti
v
e
P
e
o
p
le
S
u
rv
e
y
7
re
s
u
lt
s
w
ill
b
e
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
2
0
1
3
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:

T
o
s
u
p
p
o
rt
th
is
ta
rg
e
t
in
th
e
M
T
P
,
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
is
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
C
B
C
’s
fi
rs
t
L
e
is
u
re
S
tr
a
te
g
y
.
T
h
e
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
A
d
o
p
te
d

C
h
a
p
te
r
1
:
L
e
is
u
re
F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
S
tr
a
te
g
y
in
J
a
n
u
a
ry
2
0
1
3
.
T
h
is
w
ill
b
e
fo
llo
w
e
d
b
y
C
h
a
p
te
rs
o
n
R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
O
p
e
n

S
p
a
c
e
;
P
la
y
in
g
P
it
c
h
e
s
a
n
d
P
h
y
s
ic
a
l
A
c
ti
v
it
y
.
T
h
e
o
v
e
ra
rc
h
in
g
L
e
is
u
re
S
tr
a
te
g
y
w
ill
g
o
to
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
fo
r
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l
in

M
a
rc
h
2
0
1
4
.
T
h
e
L
e
is
u
re
S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
c
h
a
p
te
rs
w
ill
th
e
n
b
e
a
g
re
e
d
a
s
S
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
P
la
n
n
in
g

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
.

E
3
M
T
P

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
o
f
a
d
u
lt
s
w
it
h
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
.

U
n
it

G
o
o
d
is

R
e
s
id
e
n
t’
s
S
u
rv
e
y

(I
f
in
c
lu
d
e
d
in
S
u
rv
e
y
it
w
o
u
ld
in
c
lu
d
e
n
o
n
-

li
b
ra
ry
u
s
e
rs
)

L
a
te
s
t

c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r

g
ro
u
p
a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l

A
p
ri
l
a
n
d

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

G

%
H
ig
h

B
a
s
e
li
n
e
L
ib
ra
ry

S
e
rv
ic
e
’s
o
w
n

A
d
u
lt
p
lu
s
S
u
rv
e
y

2
0
1
1
(R
e
s
tr
ic
te
d

to
li
b
ra
ry
u
s
e
rs
)

N
o
L
ib
ra
ry

S
e
rv
ic
e
A
d
u
lt

P
lu
s
S
u
rv
e
y
to

b
e
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n

in
2
0
1
2

L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
’s

o
w
n
A
d
u
lt
p
lu
s

S
u
rv
e
y

2
0
1
3
(R
e
s
tr
ic
te
d

to
li
b
ra
ry
u
s
e
rs
)

T
a
rg
e
t

9
3

T
a
rg
e
t
s
e
t
a
g
a
in
s
t
th
e

n
e
w
b
a
s
e
lin
e

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
o
f
a
d
u
lt
s

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
w
it
h
th
e

L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
.

A
c
tu
a
l

9
3

9
5

W
o
u
ld
fo
rm
a
n
e
w

b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d

T
o
ta
l
n
u
m
b
e
r

s
u
rv
e
y
e
d

4
1
5
2

3
5
0
9

N
e
w
T
a
rg
e
t
re
q
u
ir
e
d
–

w
h
e
n
n
e
x
t
s
u
rv
e
y

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d

9
3

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
o
f
a
d
u
lt
s
w
it
h
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e

8
0

8
4

8
8

9
2

9
6

1
0
0

M
a
r
2
0
1
2

M
a
r
2
0
1
3

T
a
rg
e
t
(Y
T
D
)

A
ct
u
a
l
(Y
T
D
)

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
T
h
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
u
n
d
e
rt
o
o
k
th
e
A
d
u
lt
P
lu
s
S
u
rv
e
y
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4
.
T
h
e
s
u
rv
e
y
fo
u
n
d
th
a
t
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
lib
ra
ry
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
h
a
s
im
p
ro
v
e
d
in
a
ll
a
re
a
s
b
e
tw
e
e
n
2
0
0
9
a
n
d
2
0
1
3
.

T
h
e
M
T
P
ta
rg
e
t
to
m
a
in
ta
in
c
u
s
to
m
e
r
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
a
t
9
3
%
a
n
d
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
,
w
it
h
th
e
s
e
rv
ic
e
h
a
v
in
g
a
n
o
v
e
ra
ll
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
ra
te
o
f
9
5
%
.
W
e
b
e
lie
v
e
th
is
re
s
u
lt
is
d
u
e
to
th
e
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t
o
f

s
ta
ff
to
th
e
s
e
rv
ic
e
a
n
d
th
e
ir
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
a
p
e
ri
o
d
o
f
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
b
le
c
h
a
n
g
e
,
th
e
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
ts
m
a
d
e
in
o
u
r
lib
ra
ry
b
u
ild
in
g
s
,
a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
th
e
in
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
o
f
s
e
lf
s
e
rv
ic
e
a
n
d
n
o
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
in
o
p
e
n
in
g
h
o
u
rs

a
ll
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
n
g
a
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t
to
th
e
fu
tu
re
o
f
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
a
c
ro
s
s
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:

T
h
e
L
ib
ra
ry
s
e
rv
ic
e
is
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
a
n
e
w
s
e
t
o
f
s
e
rv
ic
e
K
P
Is
a
n
d
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
fo
r
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
th
e
m
.
U
s
in
g
th
e
R
e
s
id
e
n
ts
S
u
rv
e
y
a
s
a
w
a
y
o
f
c
a
p
tu
ri
n
g
w
id
e
r
re
s
id
e
n
t’
s
v
ie
w
s
o
n
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e

fo
rm
s
p
a
rt
o
f
th
is
w
o
rk
.
T
h
e
R
e
s
id
e
n
ts
S
u
rv
e
y
in
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r
2
0
1
4
w
ill
b
e
u
s
e
d
to
in
d
ic
a
te
o
n
g
o
in
g
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
w
it
h
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
.

T
h
is
in
d
ic
a
to
r
is
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
m
o
n
it
o
re
d
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
A
d
u
lt
P
lu
s
e
le
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
u
rv
e
y
,
th
is
e
le
m
e
n
t
is
n
o
t
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
a
n
n
u
a
lly
.
W
e
a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
th
a
t
th
e
n
e
x
t
A
d
u
lt
P
lu
s
s
u
rv
e
y
w
ill
b
e
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
b
e
tw
e
e
n

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
3
2
0
1
4
/1
5
a
n
d
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
5
/1
6
.

Agenda item 16
Page 62



E
4
M
T
P

L
ib
ra
ry
u
s
a
g
e

U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

N
u
m
b
e
r

o
f

v
is
it
o
rs

H
ig
h

O
u
tt
u
rn

O
u
tt
u
rn

O
u
tt
u
rn

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

R

T
a
rg
e
t

R
E
V
IS
E
D
B
A
S
E
L
IN
E
&
T
A
R
G
E
T
S

2
0
1
0
/1
1
+
2
0
%
b
y
Y
r
2
0
1
5
/1
6
=
1
,3
3
1
,0
9
1

P
re
v
io
u
s
ta
rg
e
t

2
0
1
0
/1
1
+
2
0
%
b
y
Y
r
2
0
1
5
/1
6
=
1
,3
5
1
,2
4
6

A
c
tu
a
l

R
E
V
IS
E
D
1
,1
0
9
,2
4
3

(P
re
v
io
u
s
ly
1
,1
2
6
,0
3
8
)

R
E
V
IS
E
D
1
,0
8
6
,0
0
2

(P
re
v
io
u
s
ly
1
,2
4
7
,9
1
4
)

9
8
8
,8
9
3

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
T
h
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
K
P
Is
a
n
d
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
a
n
d
s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

in
to
p
re
v
io
u
s
y
e
a
rs
C
IP
F
A
re
p
o
rt
in
g
h
a
s
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
v
e
e
rr
o
rs
in
th
e
o
n
lin
e
re
c
o
rd
in
g
s
y
s
te
m
th
a
t
h
a
s
b
e
e
n

u
s
e
d
fo
r
s
e
v
e
ra
l
y
e
a
rs
.
T
h
e
s
e
e
rr
o
rs
h
a
v
e
n
o
w
b
e
e
n
c
o
rr
e
c
te
d
,
a
n
d
w
e
a
re
w
o
rk
in
g
c
lo
s
e
ly
w
it
h
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e

h
u
b
b
a
s
e
d
a
t
B
e
d
fo
rd
B
o
ro
u
g
h
to
e
n
s
u
re
a
c
c
u
ra
te
d
a
ta
re
c
o
rd
in
g
a
n
d
re
p
o
rt
in
g
m
o
v
in
g
fo
rw
a
rd
.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
a
s
a
re
s
u
lt

o
f
th
e
s
e
e
rr
o
rs
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
v
is
it
fi
g
u
re
s
fo
r
2
0
1
0
/1
1
a
n
d
2
0
1
1
/1
2
h
a
v
e
h
a
d
to
b
e
re
v
is
e
d
d
o
w
n
a
n
d
re
-s
u
b
m
it
te
d
to

C
IP
F
A
.
In
2
0
1
0
/1
1
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
v
is
it
s
in
p
e
rs
o
n
w
a
s
1
,1
0
9
,2
4
3
a
n
d
in
2
0
1
1
/1
2
1
,0
8
6
,0
0
2
.

L
ib
ra
ry
v
is
it
fi
g
u
re
s
fo
r
2
0
1
2
/1
3
a
re
b
e
in
g
re
p
o
rt
e
d
fo
r
th
e
fi
rs
t
ti
m
e
a
n
d
a
re
9
8
8
,8
9
3
.
T
h
e
re
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
in

o
v
e
ra
ll
fo
o
tf
a
ll
fr
o
m
th
e
re
v
is
e
d
2
0
1
1
/1
2
fi
g
u
re
s
to
th
e
2
0
1
2
/1
3
fi
g
u
re
s
.
T
h
is
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
is
in
p
a
rt
,
d
u
e
to
c
lo
s
u
re
p
e
ri
o
d
s

fo
r
c
a
p
it
a
l
re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
ts
a
n
d
in
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
o
f
s
e
lf
s
e
rv
ic
e
,
(2
2
w
e
e
k
s
in
to
ta
l)
.
T
w
o
o
f
th
e
lo
n
g
e
s
t
c
lo
s
u
re
s
w
e
re
in

D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
a
n
d
L
e
ig
h
to
n
B
u
z
z
a
rd
lib
ra
ri
e
s
w
h
ic
h
g
e
n
e
ra
te
th
e
m
o
s
t
fo
o
tf
a
ll
a
n
d
is
s
u
e
s
fo
r
th
e
s
e
rv
ic
e
.
In
a
d
d
it
io
n
,
w
o
rk

o
n
th
e
D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
-L
u
to
n
G
u
id
e
d
B
u
s
w
a
y
h
a
d
a
d
e
tr
im
e
n
ta
l
e
ff
e
c
t
o
n
D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
L
ib
ra
ry
.
D
u
ri
n
g
2
0
1
2
/1
3
D
u
n
s
ta
b
le

L
ib
ra
ry
s
a
w
a
d
ro
p
o
f
n
e
a
rl
y
5
0
,0
0
0
v
is
it
s
a
n
d
4
0
,0
0
0
is
s
u
e
s
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
th
e
v
is
it
s
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
b
e
tw
e
e
n
2
0
1
1
/1
2
a
n
d
2
0
1
2
/1
3
w
e
re
,
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
th
e
im
p
a
c
t
o
f
g
u
id
e
d
b
u
s
w
o
rk
s
in

D
u
n
s
ta
b
le
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
le
v
e
ls
w
e
w
e
re
e
x
p
e
c
ti
n
g
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
th
e
e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
c
lo
s
u
re
p
e
ri
o
d
s
in
e
a
c
h
lib
ra
ry
.

2
0
1
1
/1
2
(r
e
v
is
e
d
)

2
0
1
2
/1
3

A
ll
lib
ra
ri
e
s

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
v
is
it
s
to
lib
ra
ri
e
s
in

p
e
rs
o
n

1
,0
8
6
,0
0
2
9
8
8
,8
9
3

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
b
o
o
k
s
is
s
u
e
d

1
,4
6
6
,7
3
9
1
,2
9
2
,3
0
7

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
u
d
io
v
is
u
a
l
a
n
d
o
th
e
r

is
s
u
e
s

7
6
,3
1
5
6
8
,8
1
4

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
(i
n
p
e
rs
o
n
)

6
0
,8
8
0
4
3
,5
6
1

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
c
ti
v
e
u
s
e
rs

4
1
,8
1
7
3
7
,2
6
1

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
h
o
u
s
e
b
o
u
n
d
re
a
d
e
rs

9
4
4
8
7
3

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l
lib
ra
ry

B
u
s
ie
s
t
lib
ra
ry
in
te
rm
s
o
f
v
is
it
s

L
e
ig
h
to
n
B
u
z
z
a
rd
2
4
4
,3
6
0

L
e
ig
h
to
n
B
u
z
z
a
rd

2
1
6
,2
7
2

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:

A
s
th
e
w
a
y
in
w
h
ic
h
p
e
o
p
le
a
c
c
e
s
s
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
is
c
h
a
n
g
in
g
,
w
e
h
a
v
e
fo
r
th
e
fi
rs
t
ti
m
e
in
2
0
1
2
/1
3
b
e
e
n
a
b
le
to
re
c
o
rd
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
re
s
id
e
n
ts
v
is
it
in
g
th
e
V
ir
tu
a
l
lib
ra
ry
to
u
s
e
th
e

o
n
lin
e
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
(e
-b
o
o
k
s
,
e
-n
e
w
s
p
a
p
e
rs
e
tc
).
In
2
0
1
2
/1
3
th
e
re
w
e
re
8
,5
2
3
v
is
it
s
to
th
e
s
e
a
re
a
s
o
f
th
e
v
ir
tu
a
l
lib
ra
ry
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
c
o
m
in
g
m
o
n
th
s
w
e
w
ill
a
ls
o
b
e
a
b
le
to
re
p
o
rt
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
C
e
n
tr
a
l

B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
re
s
id
e
n
ts
u
s
in
g
th
e
V
ir
tu
a
l
L
ib
ra
ry
to
a
c
c
e
s
s
o
th
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
s
u
c
h
a
s
re
n
e
w
a
ls
,
re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
s
a
n
d
re
q
u
e
s
ts
a
n
d
w
e
w
ill
b
e
g
in
to
re
p
o
rt
th
is
fi
g
u
re
s
in
d
u
e
c
o
u
rs
e
.

In
a
d
d
it
io
n
to
th
e
fo
o
tf
a
ll
fi
g
u
re
s
o
u
tl
in
e
d
a
b
o
v
e
th
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
a
t
th
e
A
rl
e
s
e
y
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
a
c
c
e
s
s
lib
ra
ri
e
s
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
,
in
2
0
1
2
/1
3
th
e
re
w
e
re
1
0
,8
0
1
v
is
it
s
.

A
g
re
e
re
v
is
e
d
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
2
0
1
0
/1
1
b
a
s
e
lin
e
fi
g
u
re
s
a
n
d
re
v
is
e
d
2
0
1
5
/
1
6
ta
rg
e
t.

T
h
e
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
L
e
v
e
l
A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t
w
it
h
B
e
d
fo
rd
B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
ill
b
e
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
to
in
c
lu
d
e
K
P
Is
re
la
te
d
to
re
g
u
la
r,
a
c
c
u
ra
te
d
a
ta
re
c
o
rd
in
g
.
T
h
e
K
P
Is
a
re
d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
a
n
d
re
v
ie
w
e
d
a
t
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
.

R
o
ll
o
u
t
o
f
L
ib
ra
ry
S
e
rv
ic
e
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
w
h
ic
h
w
ill
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
th
e
im
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
o
f
a
c
c
u
ra
te
,
re
g
u
la
r
re
p
o
rt
in
g
o
f
d
a
ta
a
n
d
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
ro
le
s
a
n
d
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
in
th
is
a
re
a
.

Agenda item 16
Page 63



S
C
2

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
H
o
m
e
s
c
re
a
te
d

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

L
a
te
s
t
c
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r
g
ro
u
p

a
v
e
ra
g
e

R
e
p
o
rt

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n

S
e
a
s
o
n
a
l
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t

R
U
n
it

G
o
o
d

is
O
u
tt
u
rn

T
a
rg
e
t

(O
u
tt
u
rn

)

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
1
2
/1
3

Q
u
1

Q
u
2

Q
u
3

Q
u
4

2
0
1
3
/1
4
T
a
rg
e
t

N
u
m
b
e
r

H
ig
h

4
3
2

3
0
0

1
0
2

7
2

3
7

1
0
7

3
1
8

3
6

3
0
0

C
o
m
m
e
n
t:
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
2
0
1
3
/1
4

3
6
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
m
e
s
s
u
c
h
a
s
s
o
c
ia
l
re
n
t,
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
re
n
t
(r
e
n
ts
c
h
a
rg
e
d
a
t
n
o
m
o
re
th
a
n
8
0
%
m
a
rk
e
t
v
a
lu
e
)
a
n
d
s
h
a
re
d
o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
w
e
re
d
e
liv
e
re
d
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
.

O
f
th
e
s
e
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
th
e
re
w
e
re
1
1
S
o
c
ia
l
R
e
n
t,
9
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
R
e
n
t
a
n
d
1
6
S
h
a
re
d
O
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
.
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
th
e
re
w
a
s
n
o
t
a
s
h
ig
h
a
n
u
m
b
e
r
in
Q
u
a
rt
e
r
1
a
s
th
is
ti
m
e
la
s
t
y
e
a
r
w
e
d
id
m
a
n
a
g
e
to
p
ro
v
id
e
m
o
re

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
re
n
t
u
n
it
s
th
a
n
s
h
a
re
d
o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
in
th
e
q
u
a
rt
e
r
w
h
ic
h
is
m
o
re
in
lin
e
w
it
h
o
u
r
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
p
o
lic
y
a
n
d
m
ix
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
w
it
h
in
th
e
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
H
o
u
s
in
g
M
a
rk
e
t
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
S
o
m
e
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s

a
re
a
ls
o
s
lig
h
tl
y
b
e
h
in
d
o
n
th
e
ir
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
s
a
n
d
s
o
w
e
a
re
e
x
p
e
c
ti
n
g
to
s
e
e
u
p
lif
t
in
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
a
s
a
re
s
u
lt
o
f
s
o
m
e
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
p
la
n
n
in
g
to
d
e
liv
e
r
m
o
re
u
n
it
s
in
th
e
u
p
c
o
m
in
g
q
u
a
rt
e
rs
.

T
h
ro
u
g
h
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
w
o
rk
in
g
,
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
h
a
s
e
n
s
u
re
d
th
a
t
a
ll
th
e
u
n
it
s
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
b
u
ilt
to
a
h
ig
h
q
u
a
lit
y
d
e
s
ig
n
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
,
s
o
th
a
t
th
e
y
a
re
g
re
a
t
p
la
c
e
s
to
liv
e
w
h
e
re
a
s
tr
o
n
g
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
s
p
ir
it
w
ill
b
e
fe
lt
.
T
h
e

fi
g
u
re
s
p
ro
v
id
e
d
re
la
te
to
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
n
e
w
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
a
n
d
c
h
a
n
g
e
in
te
n
u
re
(f
in
a
n
c
ia
l
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
u
n
d
e
r
w
h
ic
h
s
o
m
e
o
n
e
h
a
s
th
e
ri
g
h
t
to
liv
e
in
a
h
o
u
s
e
o
r
a
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t)
th
ro
u
g
h
c
o
n
fi
rm
a
ti
o
n
fr
o
m
th
e
re
g
is
te
re
d

p
ro
v
id
e
r
to
th
e
H
o
u
s
in
g
S
tr
a
te
g
y
T
e
a
m
.
T
h
is
p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
n
in
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
a
s
to
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
re
a
d
y
fo
r
o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
s
e
fi
g
u
re
s
d
if
fe
r
to
th
e
L
o
c
a
l
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
(L
D
F
)
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
in
g

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
fi
g
u
re
s
w
h
ic
h
is
b
a
s
e
d
o
n
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
n
e
w
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
b
u
ilt
w
h
ic
h
a
re
s
e
c
u
re
o
n
ly
(i
.e
.
th
e
y
h
a
v
e
a
ro
o
f,
w
in
d
o
w
a
n
d
d
o
o
rs
).
T
h
e
ta
rg
e
t
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
u
p
o
n
a
n
d
s
e
t
in
th
e
H
o
u
s
in
g
S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d

g
iv
e
n
th
e
c
u
rr
e
n
t
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
c
lim
a
te
w
a
s
v
ie
w
e
d
to
b
e
s
tr
e
tc
h
in
g
.

P
la
n
n
e
d
A
c
ti
o
n
s
:
W
e
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
to
w
o
rk
c
lo
s
e
ly
w
it
h
th
e
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
to
e
n
s
u
re
th
a
t
th
e
m
a
x
im
u
m
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
e
s
a
re
b
e
in
g
d
e
liv
e
re
d
.
A
n
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
H
o
u
s
in
g
D
e
liv
e
ry
P
la
n
is
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y

b
e
in
g
d
ra
ft
e
d
.
W
e
a
im
to
c
o
m
p
le
te
th
is
b
y
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
a
n
d
th
is
w
ill
s
h
o
w
th
e
s
it
e
s
a
n
d
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
th
a
t
a
re
c
u
rr
e
n
t
a
n
d
b
e
in
g
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
to
e
n
s
u
re
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
d
e
liv
e
ry
a
g
a
in
s
t
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
in
g
ta
rg
e
t.

W
e
a
re
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
to
n
e
g
o
ti
a
te
w
it
h
v
a
ri
o
u
s
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
,
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
a
n
d
k
e
y
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
s
it
e
s
a
c
ro
s
s
C
e
n
tr
a
l
B
e
d
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
th
a
t
m
e
e
t
th
e
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
in
g
th
re
s
h
o
ld
.
W
h
ils
t

v
ia
b
ili
ty
is
a
c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
t
to
th
e
o
u
tt
u
rn
o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
in
g
o
n
s
o
m
e
s
it
e
s
,
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
w
h
e
re
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t
n
e
w
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
n
e
e
d
s
to
b
e
p
ro
v
id
e
d
,
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
s
ti
ll
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
to
n
e
g
o
ti
a
te
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t
n
e
w

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
h
o
u
s
in
g
o
n
s
it
e
s
w
h
e
re
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
v
ia
b
ili
ty
re
m
a
in
s
re
s
ili
e
n
t,
fo
r
e
x
a
m
p
le
V
a
lle
y
F
a
rm
,
F
lit
w
ic
k
a
n
d
W
a
rr
e
n
F
a
rm
,
A
m
p
th
ill
.

W
e
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
d
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
w
h
o
o
p
e
ra
te
in
C
B
C
to
d
is
c
u
s
s
h
o
w
w
e
c
a
n
a
id
a
n
d
s
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
m
w
h
e
n
th
e
y
b
id
fo
r
th
e
n
e
w
H
C
A
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
H
o
m
e
s
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
g
ra
n
t
in
th
e
n
e
w
b
id
ro
u
n
d

d
u
e
to
o
c
c
u
r
in
2
0
1
4
.
W
e
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
b
e
e
n
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
w
it
h
th
e
H
C
A
a
n
d
H
o
u
s
in
g
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
to
g
a
in
s
lip
p
a
g
e
fu
n
d
in
g
fo
r
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
th
a
t
c
a
n
d
e
liv
e
r
b
e
fo
re
2
0
1
5
a
n
d
a
s
it
e
a
t
P
o
tt
o
n
R
o
a
d
,
A
rl
e
s
e
y
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g

4
3
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
u
n
it
s
is
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
b
e
in
g
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
b
y
th
e
H
C
A
.

Agenda item 16
Page 64



 
 

Meeting: Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 10 October 2013 

Subject: Work Programme 2013 – 2014 & Executive Forward Plan 

Report of: Richard Carr, Chief Executive 

Summary: The report provides Members with details of the currently drafted Committee 
work programme and the latest Executive Forward Plan. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Jonathon Partridge, Corporate Policy and Scrutiny Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

The work programme of the Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee will 
contribute indirectly to all 5 Council priorities.  Whilst there are no direct implications arising 
from this report the implications of proposals will be detailed in full in each report submitted 
to the Committee.  

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. that the sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 (a) considers and approves the work programme attached, subject to any 
further amendments it may wish to make; 

 (b) considers the relevant items of the Executive Forward Plan; and 

 (c) considers whether it wishes to add any further items to the work 
programme and/or establish any Task Forces to assist it in reviewing 
specific items. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 

1. Appended is the currently drafted work programme for the Committee.  

2. The Committee is now requested to consider the work programme attached and 
amend or add to it as necessary.  

Overview and Scrutiny Task Forces 

3. In addition to consideration of the work programme, Members may also wish to 
consider how each item will be reviewed i.e. by the Committee itself (over one or a 
number of Committee meetings) or by establishing a Member Task Force to review 
an item in greater depth and report back its findings. 

 

Agenda item 17
Page 65



Executive Forward Plan 

4. Listed below are those items relating specifically to this Committee’s terms of 
reference contained in the latest version of the Executive’s Forward Plan to ensure 
Members are fully aware of the key issues Executive Members will be taking 
decisions upon in the coming months.  The full Executive Forward plan can be 
viewed on the Council’s website at the link at the end of this report. 

  

Ref  Issue Indicative Exec 
Meeting date 

1. Flitwick Leisure Centre Feasibility Study 05 November 2013  

2. Planning Enforcement Plan 05 November 2013 

3. Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 05 November 2013 

4. Draft Capital Programme - 2014/15 to 2017/18 10 December 2013 

5. Draft Revenue Budget and Fees and Charges 2014/15 10 December 2013 

6. Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Quarter 
2 Budget Monitor Reports 

10 December 2013 

7. Quarter 2 Performance Report 10 December 2013 

8. Central Bedfordshire's Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
Duties 

14 January 2014 

9. Arlesey Masterplan (Land at Chase Farm and Land West and 
North-East of High Street, Arlesey) 

14 January 2014 

10. Capital Programme - 2014/15 to 2017/18 04 February 2014 

11. Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan 2014/15 - 
2017/18 

04 February 2014 

12. Leisure Strategy 18 March 2014 

13. Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Quarter 
3 Budget Monitoring Reports 

18 March 2014 

14. Central Bedfordshire Design Guide 18 March 2014 

15. Community Safety Partnership Plan and Priorities 18 March 2014 

16. Quarter 3 Performance Report 18 March 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda item 17
Page 66



Conclusion 

5. Members are requested to consider and agree the attached work programme, 
subject to any further amendments/additions they may wish to make and highlight 
those items within it where they may wish to establish a Task Force to assist the 
Committee in its work.  This will allow officers to plan accordingly but will not 
preclude further items being added during the course of the year if Members so wish 
and capacity exists. 

 

Appendix – Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme  

 

Background reports:  

Executive Forward Plan (can be viewed at any time on the Council’s website) at the 
following link:- 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=577&RD=0  

Agenda item 17
Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



NOT PROTECTED      Last Update:  24 September 2013  

Appendix A 
 

Work Programme for Sustainable Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 2013 - 2014 

 
 
 

Ref Indicative Overview & 
Scrutiny Meeting Date 

Report Title Report Description Comment 

1.  12 December 2013 Requested Item: Parking 
Strategy  

To receive an update on the Council’s 
parking strategy and performance of 
ANPR including analysis of all income 
from 2012/13 received from car parks 
and penalty charge notices (PCNs), 
resulting both from parking and ANPR. 
To include a breakdown showing 
where income received through PCNs 
had been spent by area.  

This item was requested at the OSC 
meeting in July 2013.  

2.  12 December 2013 Arlesey Masterplan (Land at 
Chase Farm and land west and 
north-east of High Street, 
Arlesey  

To consider the final Masterplan for 
Arlesey in light of a formal public 
consultation prior to its adoption by 
Executive as technical guidance for 
development management purposes.  

Executive: 10 December 2013 

3.  12 December 2013 Central Bedfordshire’s Flood 
and Water Management Act 
2010 Duties 

To consider a local flood risk strategy 
for Central Bedfordshire and proposals 
to create a Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Advisory Board prior to 
approval by Executive.  

Executive: 14 January 2014 

4.  12 December 2013 Draft Capital Programme – 
2014/15 to 2017/18 

To consider the draft budget for the 
Directorate. 

 

A
genda item

 17
P

age 69



NOT PROTECTED      Last Update:  24 September 2013  

Ref Indicative Overview & 
Scrutiny Meeting Date 

Report Title Report Description Comment 

5.  12 December 2013 Draft Revenue Budget and 
Fees and Charges 2014/15 

To consider the draft budget and fees 
and charges for the Directorate. 

 

6.  23 January 2014 Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan  To consider a report prior to Executive 
and Council seeking approval to 
consult on revisions to the Plan. 

Executive: TBC 

7.  23 January 2014 Requested Item: Street 
Maintenance 

To receive a presentation on street 
maintenance in all its forms 

This item was requested in July 
2013. 

8.  23 January 2014 Community Safety Plan and 
Priorities (2014/15)  

To consider the Community Safety 
Partnership’s plan and priorities for 
2014/15 and to provide 
recommendations prior to 
consideration by Executive.  

Executive: 18 March 2014 

9.  23 January 2014 Leisure Strategy  To consider Chapters 2 (recreation 
and open space strategy) and 3 
(playing pitch strategy) of the draft 
Leisure Strategy and the overarching 
Leisure Strategy prior to adoption by 
Executive.  

Executive: TBC 

10.  23 January 2014 Central Bedfordshire Design 
Guide 

To consider the Central Bedfordshire 
Design Guide in light of public 
consultation prior to approval by 
Executive. 

Executive: 03 March 2014 

11.  23 January 2014 Revenue and Capital Budget 
Monitoring Report (Quarter 2) 

To receive the Q2 revenue and capital 
budget for the Sustainable 
Communities directorate 

Executive: 10 December 2013 

12.  23 January 2014 Q2 Performance Report To receive the Q2 performance for the 
Sustainable Communities directorate 

Executive: 10 December 2013 

13.  27 February 2014 TBC   

A
genda item

 17
P

age 70



NOT PROTECTED      Last Update:  24 September 2013  

Ref Indicative Overview & 
Scrutiny Meeting Date 

Report Title Report Description Comment 

14.  03 April 2014 Revenue and Capital Budget 
Monitoring Report (Quarter 3) 

To receive the Q3 revenue and capital 
budget for the Sustainable 
Communities directorate 

Executive: 18 March 2014 

15.  03 April 2014 Q3 Performance Report To receive the Q3 performance for the 
Sustainable Communities directorate 

Executive: 18 March 2014 

16.  08 May 2014 TBC   

17.  19 June 2014 TBC   

 

 

 
 

A
genda item

 17
P

age 71



P
age 72

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	11 Leisure Facilities Strategy and the Flitwick Leisure Centre Feasibility Study
	12 Capital Budget Monitoring - Regeneration and Business Support
	Q1 Capital Monitoring Regeneration & Business Support (Appendices)

	13 Revenue Budget Monitoring - Regeneration and Business Support
	Q1 Revenue Monitoring Regeneration & Business Support (Appendices)

	14 Capital Budget Monitoring - Community Services
	Q1 Capital Monitoring Community Services (Appendices)

	15 Revenue Budget Monitoring - Community Services
	Q1 Revenue Monitoring Community Services (Appendices)

	16 Performance Monitoring
	Q1 performance (Appendices)

	17 Work Programme 2013/14 and Executive Forward Plan
	Work Programme report (Appendices)


